

ශී ලංකා පුජාතාන්තික සමාජවාදී ජනරජයේ ගැසට් පතුය අති විශෙෂ

The Gazette of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka

EXTRAORDINARY

අංක 2144/68 – 2019 ඔක්තෝබර් මස 12 වැනි සෙනසුරාදා – 2019.10.12 No. 2144/68 – SATURDAY, OCTOBER 12, 2019

(Published by Authority)

PART I : SECTION (I) — GENERAL

Government Notifications

NATIONAL PROCUREMENT COMMISSION OF THE DEMOCRATIC SOCIALIST REPUBLIC OF SRI LANKA

Procurement Guidelines - 2019

Published by the National Procurement Commission in terms of Article 156C (1) of the Constitution of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka

GUIDELINES FOR THE PROCUREMENT OF GOODS, WORKS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS AND SELECTION AND EMPLOYMENT OF CONSULTANTS BY GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS AND TO PROVIDE FOR MATTERS CONNECTED THEREWITH AND INCIDENTAL THERETO

In performance of the functions vested in terms of Article 156C (1) of the Constitution of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka, the National Procurement Commission published these guidelines for procurement of goods and services, work, consultancy services and information systems by government institutions and to provide for matters connected therewith and incidental thereto.

The date from which these guidelines shall come into force replacing all Procurement Guidelines, Circulars and Directives as prevalent on that date, shall be a date no later than 30 days after receipt of the approval of the Parliament for these Guidelines in terms of Article 156C (1) of the Constitution of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka.

Interpretation of these guidelines and decisions on matters not covered by these guidelines shall be made by the National Procurement Commission.

The Extraordinary Gazette No. 2070/15 dated May 09, 2018 issued on this matter is hereby cancelled.

By Order of the National Procurement Commission,

W. D. Jayasinghe, Secretary General, National Procurement Commission.





Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka

PROCUREMENT GUIDELINES 2019

GOODS, WORKS, SERVICES AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS

NATIONAL PROCUREMENT COMMISSION

Contents

DEFINITIONS	9
ACCRONYMS	12
CHAPTER 1-GENERAL	14
1.1 Purpose	14
1.2 Objectives	
1.3 Scope of Application	15
1.3.1 Guidelines of Foreign Funding Agencies	15
1.4 Ethics in Procurement	16
1.4.1 Confidentiality	16
1.4.2 Fraud and Corruption	16
1.4.3 Sanctions for Involvement in Fraud and Corruption	17
1.4.4 Conflict of Interest	17
1.5 Laws applicable to Procurement Actions	17
CHAPTER 2 - GOVERNANCE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS	
2.1 National Procurement Commission (NPC)	
2.1.1 Role of the NPC	
2.2 Roles and Responsibilities of Chief Accounting Officer and Accounting Officer (CAC	
AO)	
2.4 Appointment of Procurement Committees (PCs) and Bid Evaluation Committees (BE	
Payments for PC/BEC Members	19
2.4.1 High Level Procurement Committee (HLPC)	
2.4.2 Standing High Level Procurement Committee (SHLPC)	
2.4.3 Ministry Procurement Committee (MPC)	
2.4.4 Department Procurement Committee (DPC)	
2.4.5 Project Procurement Committee (PPC)	
2.4.6 Regional Procurement Committee (RPC)	20
2.4.7 Payments for Members of Procurement Committees (PCs) and Bid Evaluation Committees (BECs), Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procureme Process	
2.4.8 Roles and Responsibilities of Procurement Committees (PCs) and Bid Evaluation	l
Committees (BECs)	
2.5 Producting Limits for determination of Contract Award	

CHAPTER 3 - PROCUREMENT METHODS & TYPES	22
3.1 Procurement Methods	22
3.1.1 International Competitive Bidding (ICB)	22
3.1.2 National Competitive Bidding (NCB)	23
3.1.3 Limited International Competitive Bidding (LIB)	23
3.1.4 Limited National Competitive Bidding (LNB)	
3.1.5 Shopping (International & National)	23
3.1.6 Direct Contracting	23
3.1.7 Force Account	24
3.1.8 Emergency Procurement	24
3.1.9 Community Participation in District / Divisional level Construction	24
3.1.10 Procurement of Works from Regional Contractors	24
3.2 Repeat Orders	25
3.3 Types of Bidding	25
3.3.1 Single Stage One Envelope Bidding	25
3.3.2 Single Stage Two Envelope Bidding	25
3.3.3 Multistage Bidding.	26
3.4 Pre-qualification (PQ)/ Initial Selection of Bidders	26
CHAPTER 4 - PROCUREMENT PLANNING	27
4.1 Procurement Planning	27
4.1.1 Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	27
4.1.2 Procurement Plan (PP)	27
4.1.3 Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	28
4.2 Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	28
4.2.1 Update of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	28
4.3 Packaging and Slicing of Contracts	29
4.4 General Procurement Notice	29
CHAPTER 5 – PROCUREMENT DOCUMENTS	30
5.1 Preparation of Draft Procurement Documents	30
5.2 Contents of Procurement Documents	30
5.3 Standard Procurement Documents (SPDs)	30
5.4 Request for Bids/Proposals	31
5.5 Instructions to Bidders (ITB)	31
5.6 Eligibility of Bidders	31

5.6.1 Eligibility for Works Contracts	31
5.6.2 Eligibility for Consortia/Joint Ventures	32
5.7 Equal Treatment for Foreign and Domestic Bidders	32
5.8 Bid/Proposal Validity Period	32
5.9 Bid Security	32
5.10 Clarity of Procurement Documents	33
5.11 Clarifications and Modifications	33
5.12 Alternative Bids/Proposals and Bid/Proposal Options	33
5.13 Value Added Tax	34
5.14 Bid/Proposal Evaluation Criteria and Qualification Requirements	34
5.15 Conditions of Contract	34
5.16 Price Adjustment	34
5.17 Advance Payment	34
5.18 Retention of Money in Works Contracts	34
5.19 Performance Security	34
5.20 Liquidated Damages	35
5.21 Dispute Resolution	35
5.22 The Law of Contract	35
5.23 Specifications	35
5.24 Contract	35
CHAPTER 6-PROCUREMENT PROCESS	36
6.1 Publication of Request for Bids (RFB)/ Request for Proposal (RFP)/	
Specific Procurement Notice (SPN)	
6.2 Issuance of Procurement Documents	36
6.3 Bidding Period	36
6.4 Submission/Receipt of Bids/Proposals	36
6.5 Rejection of Late Bids/Proposals	
6.6 Public Bid/Proposal Opening	36
CHAPTER 7 – BID/PROPOSAL EVALUATION	37
7.1 General	37
7.2 Confidentiality	
7.3 Services of Consultant/s for Evaluation of Bids/Proposals	
7.4 Time Frame for Bid/Proposal Evaluation	
7.5 Extension of Bid/Proposal Validity	
7.6 Original Bid/Proposal to be Evaluated	

7.7 Purpose and Stages of Bid/Proposal Evaluation	38
7.8 Domestic Preference	39
7.9 Clarification from bidders	39
7.10 Unrealistic Bids/Proposals	39
7.11 Negotiations with the Substantially Responsive Lowest Evaluated Bidder	40
7.12 Bid Evaluation Report (BER)	40
7.13 Rejection of All Bids/Proposals Received	40
7.14 Re invitation of Bids/Proposals	40
CHAPTER 8 - AWARD OF CONTRACT	41
8.1 Recommendation/Determination of Contract Award	41
8.2 Communication to all Bidders of the Intention to Award Contract	41
8.3 Debriefing	41
8.4 Standstill Period	42
8.5 Appeals against Contract Awards recommended by the HLPC/SHLPC/MPC/DPC/PPC and RPC	42
8.5.1 Appointment of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs), Reporting and Operational	42
Responsibilities and Payments for PAB Members	
8.5.3 MPABs for Ministry level Procurements related to MPC	
8.5.4 DPAB/PPAB for Department/Project level Procurements related to DPC/PPC	
8.5.5 RPABs for Regional level Procurements related to RPC	
8.5.6 Payments for Members of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs) and Staff Officers and	
Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Appeals Process	
8.6 Award of Contract	
8.7 Formal Contract	
8.8 Publication of Contract Award	44
CHAPTER 9 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	45
9.1 Contract Administration	45
9.2 Change Requests /Variations	45
9.3 Extension of Time	45
9.4 Debarment or Blacklisting of Defaulted Bidders/Contractors/Suppliers	45
CHAPTER 10 – PROCUREMENT OF ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS	46
10.1 Procurement of Essential Requirements	46
10.2 Procurement of Spare Parts	46
10.3 Repairs to Motor Vehicles and Equipment	16

10.4 Periodicals and Publications	46
10.5 Purchasing of Fuel	47
10.6 Procurement of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Equipment	47
CHAPTER 11 – PROCUREMENT OF INFORMATION SYSTEMS (IS)	48
11.1 Information System (IS) Procurement	48
11.2 Procurement Documents to be Used	48
11.2.1 Straightforward IS Procurements	48
11.2.2 Complex Supply and Installation and Complex System Engineering Procurements	48
11.2.3 IS Consulting Services	48
11.2.4 Pre-qualification (PQ)/Initial Selection	48
CHAPTER 12 – FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT	49
12.1 Introduction	49
12.2 Features of Framework Agreement.	49
12.3 Responsibility for Management of Framework Agreement	50
12.4 Procedural and Implementation Arrangements	50
12.5 Procurement Management	50
CHAPTER 13 – e-GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT (e-GP)	51
13.1 Introduction	51
13.2 Implementation Process of e-GP at the PEs	51
13.3 Fully fledged e-GP system to be implemented by the PEs	51
13.4 Good Governance in Public Procurement: Key to e-GP	
13.5 e-GP System Access.	52
13.6 Procurement Plan	53
13.7 Bidder Registration	53
13.8 PE's Requisition	53
13.9 e-Advertising.	53
13.10 Procurement Documents	53
13.11 Correspondence, Clarifications, and Amendments	54
13.12 Pre-Bid Conference	54
13.13 Amendments to the Procurement Document	54
13.14 Submission of e-Bids/Proposals	55
13.15 Bid Securities and Performance Securities	55
13.16 Public Opening of e-Bids/Proposals	55

13.17 Evaluation of e-bids/e-proposals	55
13.18 Publication of Contract Awards	56
13.19 Notification of Contract Award (NOA) Intention letter	56
13.20 Contract Negotiation	56
13.21 Contract Management	56
13.22 Payments for Procurement Documents	57
13.23 Records Management System	57
13.24 Authentication	57
13.25 Information Security Management (ISM)	57
13.26 Electronic Procurement Models	58
13.27 Applicability of the e-procurement Guidelines and Manuals	58
CHAPTER 14 – OPEN CONTRACTING DATA STANDARD (OCDS)	59
14.1 Introduction	59
14.2 Standard	59
CHAPTER 15 – GREEN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT	60
15.1 Introduction to Green Public Procurement	60
15.1.1 Green Public Procurement Policy	60
15.2 Guiding Principles of GPP	61
15.3 Introducing GPP Strategy	61
15.4 Role play by the Ministry of Environment	62
15.5 Introducing Green Specifications for Commonly Used Items	62
15.6 Inclusion of Green Public Procurement criteria in Procurement Documents	62
15.7 Evaluation of Bids/Proposals with Green Criteria.	62
15.8 Annual Report on Green Product Purchase	63
15.9 Cost Implication	63
CHAPTER 16 – PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS (PPP)	64
16.1 Public Private Partnerships (PPP)	64

DEFINITIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires the terms whenever used in these Guidelines have the following meanings:

"Action Plan" Means a work plan of the institution for the year under consideration,

which is based on the medium term budgetary framework is approved by

Parliament for the Departments and Ministries.

For State Owned Enterprises, Actoin Plan means a work plan of the institution for the year under consideration based on the corporate plan

approved by the board of directors.

"Bid or Quotation" An offer, by a firm, joint venture, or any other party, or parties in response

to a Request for Bids, to provide the required Goods, Works, Services

and Information Systems.

"Call-Off Contract" Means an individual contract which is signed between the supplier and

the Procurement Entity for procurement of a particular quantity, in terms and conditions of the Framework Agreement within the validity period of the same, which incorporated terms and conditions for the supply of

particular requirement.

"Effective Date" Means the date on which these Guidelines will become effective replacing

all Procurement Guidelines, Circulars and Directives as prevalent on that date. The Effective Date shall be a date not later than 30 days after receipt

of Parliamentary approval for these Guidelines.

"e-GP" Means the use of information and communication technology by

governments in the entire process of procurement of Goods, Works, Services and Information systems and Selection and Employment of Consultants required by the public sector, while ensuring governance of

the Public Procurement including the value for money.

"Foreign Funding Means any multi-lateral or bi-lateral agency which has entered or intends

to enter into an agreement with the Government of Sri Lanka for financing

a project or a program.

Agency"

"Foreign Funded Means a project fully or partly financed by a Foreign Funding Agency.

Project"

"Framework Means an agreement with one or more firms that establishes the terms and conditions that will govern any contract awarded during the term of the

Engage arroads A angent and (a Call Off Contract)

Framework Agreement (a Call-Off Contract).

"Fraud & Corruption" Means any activity including activities such as corruption, fraud,

collusion, coercion, or obstruction that is contrary to the achievement of objectives of Public Procurement by any person or entity connected to the procurement process in any manner including a person who holds the

position of trust.

"Procurement Guidelines" Means Guidelines for procurement of Goods, Works, Services and

Information Systems.

"Goods"

Means all commodities, raw materials, products, plant and machinery, equipment, livestock, and other physical objects of every description, whether in solid, liquid, gaseous or living form.

"Government Institution"

Means a Ministry, a Government Department, a Public Corporation, a Local Authority, any Business or other undertaking vested in the Government and a company registered or deemed to be registered under the Companies Act No.7 of 2007 in which the Government, a public corporation or any local authority holds more than fifty percent (50%) of the shares.

"Green Public Procurement"

Means a Public Procurement, which integrates environmental considerations in the Public Procurement process and takes into the consideration the entire life cycle of the product or service.

"Information System"

Means an organized system consisting with integrated group of components for the collection, organization, storage, processing of data and communication of information.

"Information Technologies" Means development, maintenance and use of computer systems, software, and networks for collecting, storing, processing and distribution of data.

"In Writing"

Means communicated or recorded in written form. It includes, for example: mail, e-mail, fax or communication through an electronic procurement system (provided that the electronic system is accessible, secure, ensures integrity and confidentiality, and has sufficient audit trail features).

"Master Procurement Plan"

Means a document prepared by the Procuring Entity, listing all procurements envisaged to be carried out during a period of three years in medium term budgeting perspective, with tentative time lines for carry out such procurements.

"Open Contracting Data Standard (OCDS)"

Means a database that enables disclosure of data and documents at all stages of the contracting process by defining a common data model.

"Public Procurement"

Means the obtaining of Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems by Procuring Entities through the most appropriate means, with public funds or funds from any other source whether local or foreign, received by way of loans, grants, gifts, donations, contributions and similar receipts. It would include purchase, rental, lease or hire purchase, incidental to the provision of the said Goods or Services. or the execution of the Works.

"Procurement Action"

Means any action in furtherance of procurement of Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems.

"Procurement Documents"

Means all documents related to the procurement process whether in hard or electronic forms including General Procurement Notice (GPN), Special Procurement Notice (SPN), Requests for Bids (RFB), Procurement Documents, Addenda, Contract Forms, Expression of Interest (EOI), Request for Quotation (RFQ), Request for Proposal (RFP), and the other forms of different documents used for procurements of Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems, other than Consulting Services.

"Procuring Entity"

Means a Government Institution, which the particular procurement is

meant for.

"Procurement Manual"

Means the detailed operational guidance on procurement policies and procedures for all the stakeholders involved in the various stages of procurement actions conducted under the Government Procurement

Guidelines of Sri Lanka.

"Procurement Plan"

Means a subset of the Master Procurement Plan which lists out the procurements planned to be carried out during a particular financial year, with emphasis to available budgetary provisions with planned target time lines for completion of critical milestones pertaining to each procurement.

"Procurement Process"

Means a process that commences with identification of need and continues through planning, preparation of specification functional requirement, selection of contract award, contract management and completion of the contract.

"Procurement Time Schedule"

Means a document prepared by the Procuring Entity depicting specific dates from the Procurement Plan for accomplishment of each procurement activity under a particular procurement and approved by the procurement committee.

"Services"

Means any services such as electricity, water supply, cleaning, security, cargo clearance, and other utility services of every description. other than Consulting Services.

"Works"

Means a category of procurement that refers to construction, decoration, repair, retrofitting, refurbishment, renovation, rehabilitation, demolition, restoration, maintenance of buildings, infrastructure, civil works structures and other associated activities.

ACRONYMS

AO - Accounting Officer

BEC - Bid Evaluation Committee

BOQ - Bill of Quantities

B/POC - Bid Proposal Opening Committee

CAO - Chief Accounting Officer

CBO - Community Based Organization

CCC - Change Control Committee

CIDA - Constructions Industry Development Authority

DPC - Departmental Procurement Committee

ECP - Estimated Cost of the Procurement

e-GP - e-Government Procurement

FWA - Framework Agreement

FFA - Foreign Funding Agency

FFP - Foreign Funded Project

GOSL - Government of Sri Lanka

GPP - Green Public Procurement

GPN - General Procurement Notice

HD - Heads of Departments

HLPC - High Level Procurement Committee

ICB - International Competitive Bidding

Information Systems

LKR - Sri Lanka Rupees

MPC - Ministry Procurement Committee

MPP - Master Procurement Plan

NCB - National Competitive Bidding

NPC - National Procurement Commission

OCDS - Open Contracting Data Standard

OD - Operational Directives

PC - Procurement Committee

PE - Procuring Entity

DFD - Department of Public Finance

PGL - Procurement Guidelines

PP - Procurement Plan

PPP - Public Private Partnership

PTS - Procurement Time Schedule

RFB - Request for Bids

RFP - Request for ProposalRFQ - Request for Quotations

RPC - Regional Procurement Committee

SHLPC - Standing High Level Procurement Committee

SPD - Standard Procurement Document

SPN - Special Procurement Notice

TCE - Total Cost Estimate

VAT - Value Added Tax

GENERAL

Value for effective Works, Se	ose of these Guidelines is to establish governing principles and proceduresto ensure r Money (VfM), in an efficient, fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-procurement process by the Government Institutions for procurement of Goods, ervices and Information Systems.	Refer
The procu	ectives	Refer
-		Manual 1.2
,	urement process should ensure:	1.2
a) r	maximizing economy, timeliness and quality;	
b) (optimum utilization of budgetary resources;	
	adhering to prescribed standards, specifications, rules, regulations and good governance;	
d) t	transparency and accountability in Public Procurement;	
	providing fair, equal and maximum opportunity for eligible interested parties to participate in procurement;	
	expeditious execution of Works and delivery of Goods, completion of Information Systems & provision of Services;	
g) 0	compliance with laws, regulations & international obligations;	
h) i	introducing e-Government Procurement (e-GP) for public-sector procurements;	
E	promote human wellbeing and support sustainable development by promoting environmental friendly procurement, while optimizing resource utilization and minimizing negative impacts on the environment;	
j) p	promote transparency by regularly publishing procurement data in accordance with the Open Contracting Data Standard (OCDS);	
k) e	enhancing stakeholders trust and confidence in the entire procurement process;	
l) r	maintaining consistency in application of unique procedures across Procuring Entities.	

1.3 Scope of Application	Refer Manual 1.3
These Guidelines constitute the national policy and are mandatory and applicable to procurements carried out by Government Institutions.	
These Guidelines repeal, replace or otherwise supersede previous Procurement Guidelines 20 Goods and Works issued by the National Procurement Agency and the related supplements a circulars issued by NPA and Treasury.	
These Guidelines will take effect and come into operations on a date as specified by the Ni (effective date) which shall be within 30 days after the approval of these Guidelines by Parliament.	
Any Procurement Action that has commenced prior to coming into operation of these Guidelin shall continue under the previous Procurement Guidelines 2006 Goods and Works up to award of the contract.	
Commencement, for purposes of this clause, will be the publication of Invitation/Request Bids. Notwithstanding the above, these Guidelines will apply for any matter not provided in the previous Guidelines. Procurement Entity may seek a direction from the NPC in the even a clarification is necessary.	for
Details such as procedures, authority limits, threshold limits, explanations, time schedules explain to provisions of these Guidelines are stipulated in the Procurement Manual shall be read in conjunction with these Guidelines. The Manual will be issued and update periodically by the NPC.	ual
1.3.1 Guidelines of Foreign Funding Agencies	
In the case of Foreign Funded Projects, if the Foreign Funding Agency mandates use of Procurement Regulations/Guidelines of such funding agency, such funding agency Regulations/Guidelines shall prevail over these Guidelines to the extra applicable. In the event of a conflict between these Guidelines and that of the funding agency, the funding agency Regulations/Guidelines shall take precedence over the Guidelines. In the event these Guidelines specify additional steps, not specified the Guidelines of the relevant funding agency, the PE shall bring to the notice of Funding Agency of those and apply those provisions with the concurrence of the Funding Agency.	ing ent ing ese by the
Notwithstanding the above, the PE shall not apply Guidelines of any Funding Agen if the funding is loan/credit financing, where substantial achievement of the objective as specified in Clause 1.2 above is not feasible.	

1.4 Et	hics in Procurement	
Procur well as consul- Procur Ethics and im	associated with Procurement Process including officials of the NPC, the Treasury, ing Entity, members of the Procurement Committees, and Bid Evaluation Committees as bidders, contractors and suppliers; any sub-contractors, service providers, any agents, tants and any of their personnel should observe the highest standards of ethics during the ement Process and execution of such contracts. would include standards of conduct and norms of behaviour as sought to be defined apposed by relevant laws, regulations, and codes generally applicable to such persons the their general displaces of duties and in relation to their contribution contribution and in relation to their contribution contribution and their contribution contribution and their contribution contribution and their contribution contribution are still applicable.	
	tion to their general discharge of duties and in relation to their activities carried out in ance of or linked to the Procurement Process and action.	
1.4.1	Confidentiality	
	All parties associated with procurement activities shall maintain strict confidentiality throughout the process except to the extent as may be mandated by law.	
1.4.2	Fraud and Corruption	Refer Manual 1.4.2
	The GOSL requires that policy and decision makers, officials, bidders, contractors and suppliers, any sub-contractors, service providers, any agents, and any of their personnel observe the highest standards of ethics during the Procurement Process and contract execution and refrain from corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, coercive and obstructive practices in participating in the Procurement Process.	
	For this provision, the terms set forth below are as follows;	
	a) Corrupt Practice	
	"Corrupt Practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly or indirectly, anything of value to influence improperly the actions of another party;	
	b) Fraudulent Practice	
	"Fraudulent Practice" means any act or omission, including a misrepresentation, that knowingly or recklessly misleads, or attempts to mislead, a party to obtain a financial or other benefit or to avoid an obligation;	
	c) Collusive Practice	
	"Collusive Practice" means an arrangement between two or more parties designed to achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of another party. Improper purpose would include any attempt to influence competition and/or the price.	
	d) Coercive Practice	
	"Coercive Practice" means impairing or harming, or threatening to impair or harm, directly or indirectly, any party or the property of the party to influence improperly the actions of a party;	
	-	•

	e) Obstructive Practice	
	"Obstructive Practice" means deliberately destroying, falsifying, altering, amending or concealing of evidence materials to the investigation or making false statements to investigators / auditors in order to materially impede an investigation / audit into allegation of a corrupt, fraudulent, collusive or coercive practice; and/or threatening, harassing or intimidating any party to prevent it from disclosing its knowledge of matters relevant to the investigation/audit.	
1.4.3	Sanctions for Involvement in Fraud and Corruption	Refer Manual 1.4.3 and 9.4
	If confirmed the involvement of corrupt practices through a formal inquiry, sanctions, including debarring from that procurement or eligibility for future procurements should be imposed on bidders, contractors and officials and should additionally be reported to the respective authorities for appropriate action.	
1.4.4	Conflict of Interest	Refer Manual 1.4.4
	"Conflict of Interest" means any situation where personal or business interests of any person in a Public Procurement transaction would adversely affect the interests of a Procuring Entity in achieving economy, efficiency, effectiveness, transparency, fairness, integrity and equal treatment of bidders or consultants. The GOSL requires that officials, firms and any other individuals involved in Procurement Process not have conflict of interest.	
1.5 Lav	ws applicable to Procurement Actions	
	vs applicable to Procurement Actions shall be the laws of the Democratic Socialist c of Sri Lanka.	

GOVERNANCE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS

The governance of procurement actions shall be managed by the Procuring Entities through clear and transparent lines of authority to confirm accountability, with clear definitions of the roles and responsibilities of each party.

2.1 Na	tional Procurement Commission (NPC)	Refer Manual 2.1
of the C the gove clarificat	ional Procurement Commission (NPC) as established under the Chapter XIX B onstitution of Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka is the sole authority for transce of procurement framework followed by all Government Institutions. Any ions on the provisions of these Procurement Guidelines and related documents shall t from the NPC.	
2.1.1	Role of the NPC	Refer Manual 2.1.1
	Role of the NPC is to ensure formulation of procurement policy, Guidelines, practices, monitoring and investigation of Procurement Actions of Procuring Entities to guarantee implementation of such policies, Guidelines and best practices by Government Institutions, assessment of procurement capacity of Government Institutions, procurement capacity building and reporting to appropriate authorities on procurement performance of Procuring Entities and individuals.	
	es and Responsibilities of Chief Accounting Officer and Accounting Officer AO and AO)	Refer Manual 2.2
Responsi	bility of the entire Procurement Process from making pre-procurement arrangements	
	ct execution shall be vested with the Secretaries of the respective Line Ministries, who	
	ed to be the Chief Accounting Officers (CAOs) of such Ministries and the Accounting (AOs) of respective Departments /Institutions.	
2.3 Role	es and Responsibilities of Procuring Entity (PE)	Refer Manual 2.3
together	es to the Line Ministries, Heads of Departments /Institutions and Project Directors with the assistance of the consultants and other relevant staff who are involved in nent decision making shall be responsible for the following activities listed under:	
1.Pre-Pro	ocurement Process	
2.Procure	ement Process	
3.Post Pr	ocurement Process	

	ointment of Procurement Committees(PCs) and Bid Evaluation Committees Cs) and Payments for PC and BECMembers	Refer Manual 2.4
procurem and Bid	BEC are jointly and severally responsible for Procurement Actions. There shall be ent committees to handle Procurement Process for determination of contract award Evaluation Committees (BECs) shall be appointed to perform specific functions by the Procurement Committees in the Procurement Process as appropriate.	
	wing PCs shall be appointed as per the respective authority limits as specified under 2.5 from time to time;	
1. Hig	h Level Procurement Committee(HLPC)	
2. Star	nding High Level Procurement Committee(SHLPC)	
3. Mir	nistry Procurement Committee (MPC)	
4. Dep	partment Procurement Committee (DPC)	
5. Proj	ject Procurement Committee (PPC)	
6. Reg	gional Procurement Committee (RPC)	
	of MPCs, DPCs and RPCs, CAOs are permitted to appoint Minor Procurement tees to deal with low value procurements under each level, within the respective	
2.4.1	High Level Procurement Committee (HLPC)	Refer Manual 2.4.1
	HLPC shall be the PC, which shall be authorized to handle procurements under highest financial authority level that shall be appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury, with the concurrence of the NPC for the suitability of such members.	
	HLPC shall be assisted by a BEC appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury, considering the nominations of the PE.	
	The appointing authority should take all possible efforts to limit the number of HLPCs that will be assigned to a particular HLPC member does not exceed six (6) HLPCs.	
2.4.2	Standing High Level Procurement Committee (SHLPC)	Refer Manual 2.4.2
	SHLPC shall be appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury, considering the exceptional nature of procurement, with the concurrence of the NPC for the necessity of appointing a SHLPC to handle the particular procurement.	
	Members of the SHLPC shall be cleared by the NPC for their suitability.	
	BECs to assist SHLPCs shall be appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury, considering the nominations of the PE.	

Ministry Procurement Committee(MPC)	Refer
	Manual 2.4.3
MPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and appointing authority is the CAO/Line Ministry Secretary.	
MPCs shall be appointed annually at the beginning of the financial year. However, MPCs may be reconstituted within the financial year depending on the specific requirement of the particular procurement.	
BECs may be appointed by the CAO/Line Ministry Secretary to assist the MPC, considering its requirement.	
When the MPC is not assisted by a BEC, MPC shall be enhanced to accommodate subject matter specialists.	
Department Procurement Committee (DPC)	Refer Manual 2.4.4
DPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and appointing authority is the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry.	
BECs may be appointed by the AO to assist the DPC, considering the requirement.	
When the DPC is not assisted by a BEC, DPC shall be enhanced to accommodate subject matter specialists in the DPC.	
Project Procurement Committee (PPC)	Refer Manual 2.4.5
PPCs shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed authority limits and the appointing authority is the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry or AO, as may be the project is under the supervision.	
BECs may be appointed by the PD with concurrence of CAO/AO to assist the PPC, considering the requirement.	
PPCs under public corporations, boards and statutory bodies shall be appointed, with the specific approval of the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry.	
Regional Procurement Committee (RPC)	Refer Manual 2.4.6
RPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and the appointing authority is the AO.	
BECs may be appointed by the AO to assist the RPC, considering the requirement.	
RPCs under public corporations, boards and statutory bodies shall be appointed, with the specific approval of the AO.	
	MPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and appointing authority is the CAO/Line Ministry Secretary. MPCs shall be appointed annually at the beginning of the financial year. However, MPCs may be reconstituted within the financial year depending on the specific requirement of the particular procurement. BECs may be appointed by the CAO/Line Ministry Secretary to assist the MPC, considering its requirement. When the MPC is not assisted by a BEC, MPC shall be enhanced to accommodate subject matter specialists. Department Procurement Committee (DPC) DPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and appointing authority is the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry. BECs may be appointed by the AO to assist the DPC, considering the requirement. When the DPC is not assisted by a BEC, DPC shall be enhanced to accommodate subject matter specialists in the DPC. Project Procurement Committee (PPC) PPCs shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed authority limits and the appointing authority is the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry or AO, as may be the project is under the supervision. BECs may be appointed by the PD with concurrence of CAO/AO to assist the PPC, considering the requirement. PPCs under public corporations, boards and statutory bodies shall be appointed, with the specific approval of the CAO/Secretary to the Line Ministry. Regional Procurement Committee (RPC) RPC shall be appointed to handle procurement within prescribed financial authority limits and the appointing authority is the AO. BECs may be appointed by the AO to assist the RPC, considering the requirement.

2.4.7	Payments for Members of Procurement Committees (PCs) and Bid Evaluation Committees (BECs), Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Process	
	Members of the PCs, BECs and alternate members shall be remunerated for participation in the Procurement Process. The members of the PCs and BECs and the official who specific responsibilities are assigned under these Guidelines shall be remunerated, with emphasis to their performance. Payment of remunerations shall be based on performance of such committees and individuals and the eligible payments shall be determined by the NPC, in consultation	
2.4.8	with the General Treasury. Roles and Responsibilities of Procurement Committees (PCs) and Bid Evaluation Committees (BECs)	Refer Manual 2.4.8
	PCs and BECs are jointly and severally responsible for Procurement Actions related to determination of award in the Procurement Process.	
2.5 Auth	ority Limits for determination of Contract Award	Refer Manual 2.5
1	ocurement is administered through different levels of Procurement Committees (PCs) ing financial thresholds to make recommendation/determination of contract awards.	
	ent Committees/Bid Evaluation Committees shall be appointed depending on the t Estimate (TCE) of the relevant procurement including VAT.	

PROCUREMENT METHODS & TYPES

Open competitive bidding is the basis for economical and efficient Public Procurement. Depending on the nature and size of the project and its procurement elements, PE may use appropriate procurement methods out of the following to procure Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems.

3.1 Proce	urement Methods	Refer
		Manual
1 7	orthographic and Communities Didding (ICD)	3.1
	nternational Competitive Bidding (ICB)	
2. N	National Competitive Bidding (NCB)	
3. I	cimited International Bidding (LIB)	
4. I	cimited National Bidding (LNB)	
5. S	Shopping (International & National)	
6. І	Direct Contracting	
7. F	Force Account	
8. E	Emergency Procurement	
9. (Community Participation in District/Divisional Level Construction	
10. P	Procurement of Works from Regional Contractors	
3.1.1	International Competitive Bidding (ICB)	Refer
		Manual
		3.1.1
	International Competitive Bidding (ICB) may be the appropriate method of procurement for large contracts. The purpose of ICB is to provide a level playing field for all prospective qualified bidders worldwide under the following circumstances in order that the PE will reap the ultimate benefit from enhanced market competition. Bidding opportunities must therefore be advertised worldwide to ensure maximum participation and value for money.	
	a) when the capacity of the domestic contractors, suppliers and service providers are limited and the advantage of ICB is evident;	
	b) for Foreign Funded Projects, when the Foreign Funding Agency agreement requires the PE to resort to ICB procedures;	
	However, in the case of Works contracts in view of the development of domestic construction industry, the possibility of slicing the contract and following "slice and package" to suit domestic contractors may be considered.	
	Local entities are also allowed to bid for procurements under ICB.	
	Domestic preference criteria stipulated shall be used wherever applicable.	
	All other conditions including currencies, taxes and other statutory levies except domestic preference shall be applicable equally to foreign and domestic bidders.	

3.1.2	National Competitive Bidding (NCB)	Refer Manual 3.1.2
	National Competitive Bidding(NCB) is the competitive bidding procedure that shall be generally applicable for most GOSL funded projects when the Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems are available within Sri Lanka.	
	Foreign entities may bid for procurements under NCB method provided the prices are quoted in Sri Lanka Rupees.	
	NCB in foreign funded projects shall be used with the agreement of the Foreign Funding Agency as articulated in the respective financing agreement.	
3.1.3	Limited International Competitive Bidding (LIB)	Refer Manual 3.1.3
	LIB is a procurement method which allows international procurements under a restricted and competitive environment.	
	This method shall be used when there is only a limited number of suppliers/contractors or the amount of the contract is not large enough to attract suppliers or contractors through ICB, provided that the list of potential suppliers/contractors is sufficient to ensure competitiveness.	
	In the case of Limited International Competitive Bidding (LIB), all procedures followed under ICB shall apply except the requirement for advertising.	
3.1.4	Limited National Competitive Bidding (LNB)	Refer Manual 3.1.4
	This method shall be used when there is only a limited number of suppliers/contractors or the amount of the contract is not large enough to attract suppliers or contractors through NCB, provided that the list of potential suppliers/contractors is sufficient to ensure competitiveness.	
	In the case of Limited National Competitive Bidding (LNB), all procedures followed under NCB shall apply except the requirement for advertising.	
3.1.5	Shopping (International & National)	Refer Manual 3.1.5
	Shopping is a limited procurement method that can be used by the PE when purchasing small value Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems mentioned below, comparing price quotations received from at least three (3) reputed/registered bidders.	
	 Commercially available Off the Shelf Goods (COTS); 	
	ii. commodities for which specifications are standard; or	
	iii. small value Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems.	
3.1.6	Direct Contracting	Refer Manual 3.1.6
	Direct contracting is contracting with a single source without competition and may be an appropriate method under special circumstances.	5.1.0
	No Government Institution will qualify for automatic direct contract award.	

3.1.7	Force Account	
	Force account is the execution of works by the use of the PE's own personnel and equipment which may be the only practical method for executing certain kinds of works. The use of force account may be justified where:	
	a) quantities of work involved cannot be defined in advance;	
	b) works are small and scattered or in remote locations for which qualified construction firms are unlikely to bid at reasonable prices;	
	c) work is required to be carried out without disrupting ongoing operations;	
	d) risks of unavoidable work interruption are better borne by the employer than by a contractor; or	
	e) there are emergencies needing immediate attention.	
3.1.8	Emergency Procurement	Refer Manual 3.1.8
	PE may use this method in exceptional circumstances, such as man-made or natural disasters or to meet unforeseen social obligations and such other similar situations which shall be determined by the government authorities as being an emergency situation.	
	A formal covering approval for any emergency procurement shall be obtained from the appropriate PC at the first available opportunity.	
3.1.9	Community Participation in District / Divisional level Construction	Refer Manual 3.1.9
	In the interest of project sustainability, or to achieve certain specific social objectives, such as creating employment opportunities in an identified area, it is desirable to call for the participation of local Community Based Organisations (CBOs) in the Procurement Process provided that such CBO is capable to undertaking such work in terms of financial, equipment and human resource requirements and has sufficient experience in the relevant field. Sub-contracting by the CBO shall not be allowed under any circumstances.	
3.1.10.	Procurement of Works from Regional Contractors	Refer Manual 3.1.10
	With the objective of encouraging Regional Level Contractors to participate in small and medium scale construction Works of the government contracts in view of increasing employment oportunities in the regions, develop capacity of the regional contractors, reduce income inequality, and minimise delays in constructions and to utilize the local resources of competitive cost within the regions while maximizing the value for money.	
	PEs may apply NCB procedure and bids are called from Contractors who holds valid and appropriate registration from CIDA.	
	This method may apply to Foreign Funded Projects with the concurrence of the Foreign Funding Agency.	

	eat Orders	Refer Manual 3.2
	orders for the procurement of goods may be authorized under exceptional circumstances if certifies that;	
a)	the necessity for additional requirement was not foreseen and identified at the time of the original order;	
b)	it is not economical to follow the bidding procedure again;	
c)	price of the goods has not reduced since the original order; and	
d)	appropriate PC has no objection to such repeat order.	
	d that additional items that are required are under an existing contract originally awarded dance with competitive procedures.	
	standing the above, PEs shall be satisfied in cases that no better offer is likely to be received the price to be paid is not more than the original price.	
	, the repeat order shall occur within 6 months of the original contract, with the additional es not exceeding 50% of the original quantities.	
3.3 Typ	es of Bidding	Refer Manual 3.3
Types o	f bidding, with or without pre-qualification/initial selection	
1. Sin	gle Stage One Envelope	
2. Sin	gle Stage Two Envelope	
3. Mu	ltistage Bidding	
3.3.1	Single Stage One Envelope Bidding	Refer Manual 3.3.1
3.3.1	Single Stage One Envelope Bidding Single Stage One Envelope bidding is most appropriate when the specifications and requirements are uniquely defined to enable submissions of both technical and financial bids/proposals in one envelope.	Manual
3.3.1	Single Stage One Envelope bidding is most appropriate when the specifications and requirements are uniquely defined to enable submissions of both technical and financial	Manual
	Single Stage One Envelope bidding is most appropriate when the specifications and requirements are uniquely defined to enable submissions of both technical and financial bids/proposals in one envelope.	Manual 3.3.1 Refer Manual

3.3.3	Multi-stage Bidding	Refer Manual 3.3.3
	It may be impractical to prepare complete technical specifications in advance for the procurement of:	
	a) large complex facilities for which a turnkey contract will be awarded for the design and build of a plant;	
	b) works of a complex and special nature; or	
	c) complex information and communication technology that is subject to rapid technological advances.	
	In the first stage, proposals are invited on the basis of a conceptual design or performance or functional specifications, subject to the PEs conducting proposal/documented specific document understanding meetings with individual bidders to learn about and discuss possible solutions.	
	In the second stage, the request for bids/proposals document may be amended to reflect the discoveries made in the proposal/document specific document understanding meeting, and issued to the qualified bidders/proposers, requesting them to submit final proposals. As requested in the request for bids/ request for proposals document, the second stage shall be submitted in two (2) envelopes for the technical and financial parts respectively where two envelopes are opened and evaluated sequentially.	
3.4 Pre-q	ualification (PQ)/ Initial Selection of Bidders	Refer Manual 3.4
extended of facilities o	ose of pre-qualification/initial selection of bidders is to ensure invitations to bid are only to those who have adequate capabilities; with respect to construction or manufacturing r supply of Goods, Services, or supply and installation of Information Systems; and their osition, experience and past performance on similar contracts is satisfactory.	
discourage designed e	ntext, PQ may be necessary for large complex works or in circumstances which could be competition due to high cost of preparation of detailed bids/proposals such as custom-equipment, industrial plants, specialized Services, contracts to be let under design and magement contracting, or complex Information Systems.	

PROCUREMENT PLANNING

Efficient and realistic planning of the entire Procurement Process is vital to ensure timely completion of the procurement cycle.

4.1 Pro	ocurement Planning	Refer Manual 4.1
	Procurement Entity shall be responsible to plan their individual procurements, other nergency procurements, in advance and shall prepare following plans.	
1.	Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	
2.	Procurement Plan (PP)	
3.	Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	
4.1.1	Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	Refer Manual 4.1.1
	Every Procuring Entity should prepare a Master Procurement Plan for a period of three years in medium term budgetary perspective and should be compiled at the Ministry level.	
	a) Individual procurements envisaged for a period of three years shall be listed in the Master Procurement Plan. (MPP)	
	b) MPP shall be reviewed annually, at the commencement of respective financial year, and shall be approved by the Secretary to the Line Ministry.	
	c) MPP shall be disclosed as per the regulations made under the Right to Information Act No 12 of 2016.	
4.1.2	Procurement Plan (PP)	Refer Manual 4.1.2
	a) PE shall prepare a Procurement Plan (PP) in accordance with Master Procurement Plan (MPP) and previously approved Action Plan, depicting procurement that shall be carried out during the respective financial year.	
	b) PP shall be more specific and list the procurement activities of the current year in accordance with the budgetary provisions and approved by the Secretary to the Line Ministry. PE shall send a true copy of the approved PP to NPC.	
	c) After preparation of the Procurement Plan the PE shall publish the General Procurement Notice (GPN) indicating the details of the procurements planned for the respective financial year. GPN shall be published in the websites of the PE, relevant line ministry and NPC.	
	d) PP is a management tool and shall be disclosed as per the regulations made under the Right to Information Act No 12 of 2016.	
	PP shall be updated as and when necessary considering actual performance. MPP and	
	Action Plan also may be amended accordingly, if required.	

4.1.3	Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	Refer
		Manual 4.1.3
	a) Procurement Time Schedule (PTS) is a schedule describing each Procurement Action, in chronological order, from commencement to completion of the Procurement Process up to the award of contract.	
	b) PTS shall be prepared by the PE in two stages;	
	Stage 1 - all activities from the commencement up to the preparation of draft Procurement Documents;	
	Stage 2 - all activities after preparation of the draft Procurement Document consequent to obtaining the required budgetary provisions.	
	c) Regular update of PTS Stage 1 shall be done by the PE.	
	d) The PE shall forward the draft PTS for Stage 2 on the procurement activity concerned, together with any connected downstream procurement to the PC. It is an obligation of the respective PC to consider the PTS Stage 2 and approve it at the first meeting. Once the PTS is agreed upon, the PC shall monitor the progress in consultation with the PE.	
4.2	Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	Refer Manual 4.2
	an aggregation of elemental costs of a procurement to be conducted including VAT which shown separately.	
	emental costs means itemized costs of the pre-procurement, procurement and post- ement costs.	
	all be prepared by the PE and approved by respective approving authority, prior to request s/proposals.	
4.2.1	Update of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	Refer Manual 4.2.1
	Wherever it is necessary to update the TCE, the updated TCE shall be approved by the appropriate authority. The approving authority should refrain from revising the TCE	

4.3 Packaging and Slicing of Contracts	Refer
	Manual
	4.3
The size and the complexity of the contract are important considerations for packaging and slicing.	
Bids/proposals may be requested;	
a) In order to facilitate large and small contractors to participate, procurement may be divided into smaller slices and procured on "Slice and/or Package" basis.	
b) Both small and large contractors may be allowed, at their options, to bid for one or more packages.	
c) In case of e-GP, lots will be treated as a stand-alone procurement packages and procured accordingly.	
All bids/proposals shall be received by the same closing date and opened and evaluated simultaneously so as to determine the bid/proposal or combination of bids/proposals.	
	Refer Manual 4.4
The PE shall publish GPN with the intention to inform the prospective bidders on availability of	
bidding opportunities within the PE in advance.	

CHAPTER 5 PROCUREMENT DOCUMENTS

5.1	Preparation of Draft Procurement Documents	Refer Manual 5.1
a)	The PE shall prepare the draft Procurement Documents in a manner best calculated to encourage competition and achievement of the procurement objectives as given in 1.2 above.	
b)	The PE shall complete the above-mentioned task prior to the appointment of the PC and BEC.	
5.2	Contents of Procurement Documents	Refer Manual 5.2
bide	Procurement Documents shall contain all relevant information necessary for a prospective der to prepare a responsive bid/proposal. The contents of the Procurement Document shall be mbiguous.	
5.3	Standard Procurement Documents (SPDs)	Refer Manual 5.3
a)	PEs shall use the appropriate SPDs, with minimum changes, if necessary, to address procurement specific issues. In the case of procurements funded by a Foreign Funding Agency, the PEs may use the SPDs mandated by such agencies.	
b)	In case of Information Systems, separate Procurement Documents, as may be necessary, will be prepared by PE to cover procurement and contract documents to facilitate successful installation, integration and operation of a range of Information System applications from straightforward supply, installation and maintenance of technology products, to complex development, integration and operation of mission-critical information systems.	
c)	Where no relevant SPDs are available, the PE may use other appropriate Procurement Documents.	
d)	All such documents must be reviewed/recommended and approved by the BEC and the PC, respectively. The BEC and PC shall be jointly and severally responsible for the contents of such documents. However, it is the duty of the PE to ensure that the Procurement Document is complete with any amendments recommended by the BEC and approved by the PC.	
e)	In case of SPDs in e-GP, all data sections like bid data sheet, bill of quantity/material, schedule of delivery, technical and financial proposals, special conditions of contracts, and other data related forms should be available as web forms or interactive data capturing and processing system. SPDs static sections, in non-modifiable Portable Document Format (PDF), should be built into the e-GP system process itself. Its use should enhance efficiency in administrative processes and contribute to good governance.	
	Works contracts standard formats published by CIDA may be used in instances where the PE f the opinion that such are the most suitable.	

3.4 KC	ques	st for Bids/Proposals	Refer Manual 5.4
organiz	ation	ublicity shall be given to the request for bids/proposals in national newspapers, i's website and National Procurement Commission's web portal, e-GP portal and in in relevant international or donor websites.	
informa	ation	bids/proposals should be brief but should contain appropriate and relevant basic required by prospective bidders to form, with sufficient clarity, an opinion as to the procurement.	
5.5 Ins	struc	etions to Bidders (ITB)	Refer Manual 5.5
		to bidders shall contain clear, precise and relevant information for bidders sufficient to submit responsive bids/proposals.	
5.6 Eli	gibil	lity and Qualification Requirements of Bidders	Refer Manual 5.6
leg		ity requirements for bidders shall be limited to those that are essential to ensure bidder's and capacity to perform the relevant contract and shall be included in the Procurement ents.	
	dders iers:	should be considered as ineligible bidders under the following two situations among	
	i.	any blacklisted contractor/supplier/service provider;	
	ii.	any contractor/supplier/service provider who displays a conflict of interest.	
5.6.1	Eliş	gibility for Works Contracts	Refer Manual 5.6.1
	a)	In the case of procurement of Works (excluding works implemented through Community Based Organizations), domestic contractors shall have the appropriate and valid CIDA registration at the time of closing of bids/proposals and award of contract.	
	b)	CIDA registration shall not be a criterion for purchasing Procurement Documents.	
	1	CIDA registration shall for purposes of evaluation, be considered an eligibility	

	EII	gibility for Consortia/Joint Ventures	
	a)	Firms should be allowed to bid as a joint venture or as a consortium, to enhance their qualifications and capabilities. Any partner of a joint venture/consortium is not allowed to submit another bid/proposal independently or as a joint venture partner or as a consortium with another for the same procurement.	
	b)	If a bid/proposal is submitted as a joint venture or a consortium, all parties of the joint venture/consortium shall be jointly and severally liable for the entire contract.	
	c)	If a consortium or a joint venture has not been formed at the time of bid/proposal submission, the bid/proposal shall include sufficient material to establish the intention to form such consortium or a joint venture together with respective rights and liabilities of the consortium/joint venture parties. In any event consortium/joint venture shall be established prior to entering into contract.	
5.7 Eq	ual '	Treatment for Foreign and Domestic Bidders	
bot	h do	arements under ICB, bidding and contract conditions shall have equal application to mestic and foreign bidders, except in complying with the requirements of domestic ace and CIDA registration (in the case of construction contracts) for domestic bidders.	
		foreign currency payments are envisaged under the contract, both the foreign and c bidders shall be eligible to quote and to be paid in foreign currency.	
effe	ect. I	igible for foreign currency payment bidders are required to submit justification to that mport of plant, equipment and machinery and payment of remuneration for expatriates all be considered as valid justifications.	
5.8 Bio	l/Pr	oposal Validity Period	Refer Manual
Bidders Documo n numl evaluati approva the eva	s shal ents. ber o ion o als so luatio	I be required to submit bids/proposals valid for a period specified in the Procurement Bid/proposal validity period must be requested indicating a certain calendar date, (not of days), which shall be sufficient to enable the PE to complete the comparison and of bids/proposals, review the recommendation for award and obtain all the necessary of that the contract can be awarded within the bid/proposal validity period. In the event cannot be completed, the PE shall request for an extension of the bid/proposal er the revised calendar date.	
Bidders Docume in numl evaluati approva the eva validity	s shal ents. ber o ion o als so luation	I be required to submit bids/proposals valid for a period specified in the Procurement Bid/proposal validity period must be requested indicating a certain calendar date, (not of days), which shall be sufficient to enable the PE to complete the comparison and of bids/proposals, review the recommendation for award and obtain all the necessary that the contract can be awarded within the bid/proposal validity period. In the event on cannot be completed, the PE shall request for an extension of the bid/proposal er the revised calendar date.	Manual 5.8 Refer Manual
Bidders Docume in numl evaluati approva the eva validity 5.9 Bid A bid s bidding the Prod	s shall ents. ber coion oo ion oo iluatic as p	I be required to submit bids/proposals valid for a period specified in the Procurement Bid/proposal validity period must be requested indicating a certain calendar date, (not of days), which shall be sufficient to enable the PE to complete the comparison and of bids/proposals, review the recommendation for award and obtain all the necessary that the contract can be awarded within the bid/proposal validity period. In the event on cannot be completed, the PE shall request for an extension of the bid/proposal er the revised calendar date.	Manual 5.8

5.1	0 Clarity of Procurement Documents	
a)	All prospective bidders shall be provided with the same information other than two stage bidding and shall be assured of equal opportunities to obtain additional information.	
b)	Where ever applicable a pre-bid meeting/site visits may be arranged whereby prospective bidders have the opportunity of seeking clarifications from the PE. All bidders must be provided with the same information by the PE.	
5.1	1 Clarifications and Modifications	Refer Manual 5.11
a)	A prospective bidder requiring any clarification of the Procurement Documents should notify to the PE in writing, with sufficient time before the date of bid/proposal closing.	
b)	PE may, at its own initiative or in response to a clarification requested by a prospective bidder, modify Procurement Documents by issuance of addenda with the recommendation of the BEC and approval of the PC giving sufficient time to notify whatever the revision to the respective bidders.	
c)	If deemed necessary, the PE may extend the deadline for bid/proposal closing giving due consideration to the PTS and other bidders, with the approval of the PC.	
5.1	2 Alternative Bids/Proposals and Bid/Proposal Options	
a)	The Procurement Document shall clearly indicate when bidders are allowed to submit alternative bids/proposals, how alternative bids/proposals should be submitted, how bid prices of the alternative bid/proposal should be offered and the basis on which alternative bid/proposal shall be evaluated.	
b)	Alternative bids/proposals submitted by a bidder, shall be considered as a separate bid/proposal and it shall be supported with an independent form of bid and bid security.	
c)	If bidders are permitted to submit alternative bids/proposals it shall be clearly stated in the Procurement Document. However, only the original bids/proposals shall be considered for the purpose of evaluation.	
d)	If the original bid/proposal submitted by the bidder is considered as the lowest evaluated and substantially responsive bid/proposal, the bidder's alternative bid/proposal will be compared with his original bid/proposal. In such a situation, if alternative bid/proposal is accepted, it shall fully comply with employer's requirements and bid/proposal price shall not be higher than the original bid/proposal price.	
	If alternate bids/proposals are not permitted in the Procurement Document, any alternate bid/proposal shall not be considered.	
e)	Procurement Document shall specify whether bid/proposal options are allowed or not. If bidders are allowed to submit options, the Procurement Document shall clearly indicate how bid/proposal options should be submitted, how bid/proposal prices should be offered and the basis on which bid options shall be evaluated.	
	If Procurement Documents specify bid/proposal options are not allowed, bids/proposals with all options will be rejected.	

		Refer Manual 5.13
	pidders shall be instructed to indicate VAT separately in their bid/proposal price and VAT shall be considered for evaluation of bids/proposals.	
5.14	Bid/Proposal Evaluation Criteria and Qualification Requirements	Refer Manual 5.14
	The Procurement Documents shall clearly specify the relevant factors, in addition to price, to be considered in bid/proposal evaluation.	
	Pre-qualification criteria and post qualification criteria shall also be clearly stated in the elevant Procurement Documents.	
	The disclosed criteria shall not be modified, or additional criteria shall not be introduced luring the bid/proposal evaluation.	
t	f bids/proposals based on alternative designs, materials, completion schedules, payment erms etc. are permitted, conditions for their acceptability and method of their evaluation shall be expressly stated.	
5.15	Conditions of Contract	Refer Manual 5.15
S	The General Conditions of Contract (GCC) are generally used with all types of contracts and hall be issued with the Procurement Document. Special Conditions of Contract (SCC) may be included in the Procurement Document depending upon the need.	
	Provisions indicated in the SCC will take precedence over the corresponding provisions in the GCC. Additional clauses shall be added to SCC to suit the particular contract.	
5.16	Price Adjustment	Refer Manual 5.16
	ontracts with long delivery or completion periods including major civil works contracts, price tment provision shall be provided in the Procurement Document.	
5.17	Advance Payment	Refer Manual 5.17
	dvance payment can be made, when required provisions are included in the Procurement ment.	
5.18	Retention of Money in Works Contracts	Refer Manual 5.18
	PE shall retain a specified amount as retention money to ensure that the contractor rectifies efects.	
5.19	Performance Security	Refer Manual 5.19
	formance security shall be provided by the contractor/supplier, to safeguard the PE in case of h of contract and unsatisfactory performance.	

5.20 Liquidated Damages	Refer Manual 5.20
Provision shall be made in the contract for computation and charging of liquidated damages, for delays which result in a loss to PE where supplier/contractor is responsible for the delay.	
5.21 Dispute Resolution	Refer Manual 5.21
All disputes arising out of contract agreements shall be resolved through amicable negotiation, mediation, adjudication or arbitration. Arbitration shall be in accordance with the provisions of the Arbitration Act No. 11 of 1995 of Sri Lanka.	
5.22 The Law of Contract	
The law governing the Contract shall be the laws of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka.	
5.23 Specifications	Refer Manual 5.23
a) Specifications shall include material, design, quality, standards and workmanship for all prospective procurements. It should meet the essential requirements of the PE and be objective, functional, and fit for the purpose.	
b) It should be based on respective national standards and/or equivalent international standards as applicable.	
 Specifications should be of generic nature reflecting functional aspects than technical aspects. 	
5.24 Contract	Refer Manual 5.24
The contract document shall be a part of the Procurement Document.	

PROCUREMENT PROCESS

6.1	Publication of Request for Bids (RFB)/ Request for Proposal (RFP)/Specific Procurement Notice (SPN)	Refer Manual 6.1
	de publicity shall be given to the RFB/RFP/SPN which should include sufficient information for spective bidders to respond in offering bids/proposals.	
	plicity of RFB/RFP/SPN will include publishing in the relevant PE/Ministry/NPC website as ll as in e-GP portal.	
In c	case of LNB and LIB, RFB/RFP/SPN is not applicable.	
6.2	Issuance of Procurement Documents	Refer Manual 6.2
the	curement Documents, including in the e-GP system, should be made available for purchase by prospective bidders, as mentioned in the RFB/RFP/SPN on the payment of the prescribed fees, ny, until bid closing.	
	curement Documents and web-forms or functions to review and response to the RFB shall be illable in e-GP System as provided for in the e-GP Guidelines.	
6.3	Bidding Period	Refer Manual 6.3
The	e bidding period shall be reasonably adequate to prepare and submit the bids/proposals.	
6.4	Submission/Receipt of Bids/Proposals	Refer Manual 6.4
The trar	e bid/proposal shall be submitted using Procurement Documents issued by PE which is not asferable to any other bidder.	
Wh	e bids/proposals shall be received only at one location as stated in the Procurement Document. nen e-GP is introduced, all bids/proposals shall be accepted only through e-GP System as per the idelines relevant to the e-GP. system.	
6.5	Rejection of Late Bids/Proposals	Refer Manual 6.5
	ls/proposals shall be closed at the time specified in the Procurement Documents. Late Bids/posals shall not be accepted and shall be returned unopened.	
e-G	SP System shall automatically reject the late bids/proposals.	
6.6	Public Bid/Proposal Opening	Refer Manual 6.6
a)	Bids/proposals shall be opened by a bid/proposal opening committee in the presence of the bidders or their authorized representative/s who wish to attend, soon after the closing of bids/proposals.	
b)	No bid/proposal is rejected by the bid/proposal opening committee at the bid opening.	
c)	In case of e-GP, bids/proposals will be opened electronically as guided in the e-GP Guidelines.	
d)	Amount in the form of bid announced at the public opening shall be the declared bid sum. Any discounts offered at the time of bidding should have been included in this amount.	

BID/PROPOSAL EVALUATION

7.1	General	Refer Manual 7.1
inc eva	the bids/proposals should be evaluated strictly on the basis of the terms and conditions or prorated in the Procurement Document. No new condition should be brought in while luating the bids/proposals. Aim should be to ensure that no bidder gets undue advantage at the tof other bidders and/or at the cost of the PE.	
In c	ase of e-GP system, most of the evaluations will be automated in the evaluation process.	
7.2	Confidentiality	Refer Manual 7.2
bid of b	ire bid /proposal evaluation process shall be confidential until the publication of award. After /proposal opening, information relating to substance, clarification, examination and evaluation bids/proposals and recommendations concerning awards shall not be disclosed to bidders or to other person not officially concerned with this process.	
in t	bid data, information, documents and evaluation records shall remain encrypted and confidential he e-GP System. Only the evaluators will have access to the records for the purpose of carrying evaluation until the decision to award is made.	
7.3	Services of Consultant/s for Evaluation of Bids/Proposals	
a)	If the assistance of the consultant/s is required for evaluation of bids/proposals it shall be obtained under the supervision and guidance of BEC.	
b)	Consultants shall not form part of a BEC.	
c)	The BEC shall submit to the PC its own observations and recommendations in the form of a report along with the consultant's report.	
7.4	Time Frame for Bid/Proposal Evaluation	Refer Manual 7.4
	evaluation shall be undertaken expeditiously, leaving ample time to seek all the requisite mal approvals. Hence, bids shall be evaluated within the period specified in the PTS.	
7.5	Extension of Bid/Proposal Validity	Refer Manual 7.5
	BEC and PE must endeavour to make the award in keeping with the PTS and within the bid/posal validity period.	
	a) in exceptional situations where it is not possible to make the award before the expiry of bid/proposal validity period, prior to such expiration the validity period may be extended appropriately, and the bid security also extended accordingly.	
	b) if a bidder does not agree to extend the validity of the bid/proposal and/or bid security, such bid/proposal shall be excluded from further consideration. However, in such a situation the bid security shall not be for	

7.6 Original Bid/Proposal to be Evaluated	Refer Manual 7.6
Only the bids/proposals marked "original" shall be evaluated by the BEC/PC.	
7.7 Purpose and Stages of Bid/Proposal Evaluation	Refer Manual 7.7
The purpose of bid/proposal evaluation is to determine the substantially responsive lowest evaluated bid/proposal out of the bids/proposals received.	
b) Bid/proposal evaluation process could be divided into four broad stages:	
Stage One: Collection of Data and Information and Prepare for Bid/Proposal Evaluation:	
Begin with collection of information and preliminary examination of bids;	
a) basic data collection;	
b) record of bid/proposal opening and related information collection;	
c) examination for completeness of bids/proposals; and	
d) preparation of table of bidder's completeness.	
Stage Two: Examination of Bids/Proposal for Substantial Responsiveness	
a) examination of substantial responsiveness to commercial requirements.	
b) the bids/proposals that are responsive to commercial requirements will be examined for responsiveness to technical requirements.	
c) when examining the responsiveness to both commercial and technical requirements due recognition will be given for deviations.	
d) preparation of a table of responsiveness to commercial, technical requirements and deviations.	
Stage Three: Detailed Bid/Proposal Evaluation:	
At this stage detailed bid/proposal evaluation will be carried out in accordance with the Procurement Document, to determine the substantially responsive bids/proposals after which the financial evaluation should be carried out.	
If the Procurement Documents provide provision for application of domestic preference, will be carried out.	
At the end of this evaluation stage, a table of substantially responsive evaluated bids/proposals will be prepared.	
Stage Four: Determination of the Lowest Evaluated Substantially Responsive Bid/Proposal:	
Step one is examination of unbalanced bids/proposals in the civil Works contracts;	
Step two is examination of post qualification criteria; and	
Step three is examination of alternative bids/proposals if there is provision in the Procurement Documents.	
Finally, selection and recommendation of substantially responsive lowest evaluated bid/proposal.	

Bid/proposal evaluation process ends up with preparation of bid evaluation report and recommendation for the award of contract.

7.8 Do	mestic Preference	Refer Manual 7.8
manufacin comp	ic preference is applied in international and national competitive bidding, when locally ctured articles that confirm local value addition as specified in the Manual are offered petition with imported articles or with articles that specified local value addition is not ed and when local contractors are competing with foreign contractors, with a view to an antional manufacturing and construction industries respectively.	
the case	ders offering locally manufactured articles in the case of Goods and domestic bidders in of Works shall be considered for domestic preference during the bid evaluation according riteria referred in the Manual.	
7.9 Cla	rifications from Bidders	
to seek bid/prop	the evaluation of bids/proposals (particularly for complex works) there may be a need clarification from a bidder with the sole purpose of ensuring better understanding of the bosal as submitted so that the bid/proposal can be properly and fairly evaluated. These tions should not:	
a)	permit any substantive change to the bidder's initial response; or	
b)	change the bid/proposal price, except correction of arithmetical errors in the pricing of the bid; or	
c)	give an advantage to the bidder from whom clarification is sought by providing that clarification;	
	quest by PC or the BEC with the approval or delegated authority of PC, the PE will seek rifications from the bidder in writing.	
	ase of BEC requesting PE to seek clarifications without the approval of PC, such requests made known to the PC concurrently.	
7.10 U	nrealistic Bids/Proposals	
request analysis	ne substantially responsive lowest evaluated bid/proposal appears to be unrealistic, on the of BEC, PE may require the bidder to prove written clarification, including detailed price to demonstrate the consistency of prices with the scope of works, proposed methodology edule. After evaluating the detailed price analysis, PC/BEC may as appropriate:	
a)	accept the bid/proposal;	
b)	require that the total value of the performance security be increased, at the expense of the bidder;	
c)	reject the bid/proposal.	

7.11 Negotiations with the Substantially Responsive Lowest Evaluated Bidder There should be no price negotiations except in the case of single bids/proposals as stated in (b) below. Selection of contractors by negotiations should be a rare exception rather than the rule. The negotiation should be held only with the substantially responsive lowest evaluated bidder. Negotiation shall be carried out by the PC with the assistance of BEC. Negotiation may be resorted to only in the following circumstances, with the lowest evaluated responsive bidder; (a) having potential to improve outcome and benefits and reduce uncertainties; or (b) when only one bid/proposal is received after wide publicity has been given and prices quoted by the single bidder is high, the price also may be negotiated. The PC shall keep a record of matters agreed with the bidder during negotiations and the PE shall execute a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the bidder relating to the agreed negotiated terms and conditions and this MOU should be included in the contract agreement. However, negotiations shall not substantially change the provisions prescribed in the Procurement Document. 7.12 Bid Evaluation Report (BER) Refer Manual 7.12 Immediately after the evaluation is completed the BEC should prepare a Bid Evaluation Report (BER) in the prescribed format and submit to the PC together with all supporting documents. 7.13 Rejection of All Bids/Proposals Received Refer Manual 7.13 Rejection of all bids/proposals received can be justified only under exceptional circumstances such lack of competition; a) bids/proposals are not substantially responsive; b) c) when bid/proposal prices are substantially higher than the existing budget. However, lack of competition shall not be determined solely on the number of bids/proposals received. ii. even when only one bid/proposal is received, after wide publicity has been given, the bidding process may still be considered valid, if the prices quoted are reasonable. 7.14 Re invitation of Bids/Proposals Wider publicity must be given when re-inviting bids/proposals. b) In re-inviting bids/proposals, the same Procurement Documents shall not be used without rectifying possible deficiencies in the Procurement Document. c) Re-inviting bids/proposals must not be for the sole purpose of obtaining lower prices.

AWARD OF CONTRACT

8.1 Recommendation/Determination of Contract Award	Refer
	Manual
DEC shall submit its assert and asserting detical to the DC slane with the views/segent of our of	8.1
BEC shall submit its report and recommendation to the PC along with the views/report of any of the dissenting member(s).	
PC must consider BEC recommendation and appropriate determination shall be made. In the case of any dispute among members of PC, the majority decision of the PC shall prevail. However, any PC member may submit a dissenting report.	
8.2 Communication to all Bidders of the Intention to Award Contract	
Within one week of being informed of the recommendation of the High Level PCs, MPC, DPC, PPC or RPC, all the bidders shall be informed in writing individually by the respective authority (High Level PCs/MPC, Secretary to the Line Ministry and DPC/ PPC/RPC, Head of the Department or his delegated authority in the region/ Project Director), of the selection of the successful bidder and the intention to award the contract to such bidder. Each unsuccessful bidder shall be informed of the reasons for not selecting his particular bid/proposal. After the award is made, the bidders are entitled to obtain copies of BER, including any other reports and opinions which the BEC and/or the PC used in arriving at their respective recommendations. However, the Secretary to the Line Ministry has the right to reserve any confidential details, which can be legally misused subject to compliance with Right to Information Act No. 12 of 2016 (RTI).	
8.3 Debriefing	
The Purposes of debriefing are to:	
 a) inform the aggrieved bidder who requests for a debriefing during the standstill period, the reasons for not being successful, pointing out the specific shortcomings in its bid/proposal without disclosing contents of other bids/proposals, with the overall objective of educating the bidder to submit more responsive and competitive bids/proposals in future. b) minimize the level of complaints and to demonstrate clearly the principle and practice of probity and transparency. 	
c) after the notification of contract award, a bidder who wishes to ascertain the grounds on which its bid/proposal was not selected should address its request to the PE.	
In the notification of contract award, the PE shall specify that any bidder who wishes to ascertain the grounds on which its bid/proposal was not selected, should request an explanation from the PE. The PE shall promptly provide the explanation as to why such bid/proposal was not selected, in writing and/or in a debriefing meeting, at the option of the bidder. The requesting bidder shall bear all the costs of attending such a debriefing. In this discussion, only the bidder's proposal can be discussed and not the bids/proposals of the successful or other bidders.	

8.4 Sta	ndstill Period	Refer Manual 8.4
whether	bidders time to examine notification of intention to award the contract and to assess it is appropriate to submit a complain /appeal, a standstill period shall apply. However, all period does not apply under single bid/proposals situation in a competitive bidding or the direct selection or under emergency situation announced by GOSL.	
	peals against Contract Awards Recommended by the HLPC/SHLPC/MPC/PC/PPC and RPC	Refer Manual 8.5
represer	successful bidder who is not satisfied with the contract award decision, may make its nation against the recommendation of the HLPC/SHLPC/MPC/DPC/PPC and RPC to the contract to the successful bidder, to the respective appeal board, within the standstill	
	peal board shall immediately after the filing of the appeal, serve a notice thereof to the ve CAO/AO of a Procuring Entity.	
a)	request for observation and suspension of procurement proceedings shall be by a written notification by the appeal board.	
b)	upon being served with a notice of a request for observation, the Procuring Entity shall within five working days or such lesser period as may be stated by the appeal board in a particular case, submit to the appeal board a written memorandum of response to the request for observation together with all relevant documents.	
c)	appeal boards shall, after due consideration of the contents of appeals, make their recommendations with reasons to the appropriate authority.	
8.5.1	Appointment of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs), Reporting and Operational Responsibilities and Payments for PAB Members	Refer Manual 8.5.1
	The key objectives of establishing the procurement appeal boards are to provide an independent review of the PC decision upon the grievances submitted by the bidders. Appealing procedure would allow contested issues to be reviewed and corrective measures to be put in place.	
	PAB procedure would allow speedy decision and lower cost for all parties while at the same time providing fairness, transparency and value for money.	
	The following PABs shall be appointed as per the respective authority limits as specified under ${\rm GL}\ 2.5$ from time to time;	
	 PABs for high level procurements related to HLPC and SHLPC 	
	 MPABs for Ministry level procurements related to MPC 	
	DPAB/PPABs for Department/Project level Procurements related to DPC/PPC	
	 RPABs for Regional level Procurements related to RPC 	
	PABs are responsible to examine and hear each and every appeal submitted by aggrieved parties and make its recommendation to the relevant authority with a copy to CAO/AO/HD/PD. In the case of High Level and Ministry level procurement, the PAB recommendations shall be copied to NPC.	

8.5.2	PABs for High level Procurements related to HLPC and SHLPC	Refer Manual 8.5.2
	There shall be either one or more PAB/s to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of HLPC and SHLPC.	
	PAB members for High Level PCs are appointed by the President of Sri Lanka with due consideration of the observation of NPC related to the list of five or more nominees representing the fields of administration, law auditing, engineering and financial management that will be submitted by the Secretary to the President.	
	The appointing authority should take appropriate steps to appoint required number of PABs to handle the procurement appeals.	
8.5.3	MPABs for Ministry level Procurements related to MPC	Refer Manual 8.5.3
	There shall be either one or more MPAB/s to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of MPC.	
	The Members for MPABs are appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury.	
	The appointing authority should take appropriate steps to appoint required number of MPAB to handle the procurement appeals.	
8.5.4	DPAB/PPAB for Department/Project level Procurements related to DPC/PPC	Refer Manual 8.5.4
	There shall be a DPAB/PPAB to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of DPC/PPC.	
	The Members for DPAB/PPAB are appointed by the CAO on the recommendation of AO/HD/PD.	
8.5.5	RPABs for Regional level Procurements related to RPC	Refer Manual 8.5.5
	There may be a RPAB to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of RPC.	
	The Members for RPAB are appointed by the AO/HD.	
8.5.6	Payments for Members of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs) and Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Appeals Process	Refer Manual 8.5.6
	Members and alternate members of PAB shall be remunerated for participation in the procurement appeal process. The members of the PAB and the official whose specific responsibilities are assigned shall be remunerated.	
	Payment of remunerations shall be based on performance of such committees and individuals and the eligible payments shall be determined by the NPC, in consultation with the General Treasury.	

8.6 Aw	ard of Contract	
Followi	ng the acceptance of a bid/proposal submitted by a successful bidder,	
a)	a formal letter of acceptance shall be issued forthwith to the bidder by the Procuring Entity.	
b)	prior to issuance of letter of acceptance, the PE should ensure that budgetary provision is available to meet the cost of contract.	
c)	letter of acceptance shall be issued within the validity period of the bid/proposal, and no sooner the final approval for contract award is obtained.	
d)	arrangements shall be made to sign the contract as early as possible prior to the commencement of the assignment.	
8.7 Fo	rmal Contract	Refer Manual 8.7
A forma	al contract agreement is required to be entered into with the successful bidder.	
8.8 Pu	blication of Contract Award	Refer Manual 8.8
The PE website	should publish promptly the details of the award in appropriate media including NPC .	

CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

9.1	Contract Administration	Refer
		Manual
		9.1
The	e PE shall be responsible for contract administration with adequate supervision and to ensure	
adł	erence to specifications, quality standards in the delivery of Goods, execution of Works,	
pro	vision of Services and completion of Information Systems.	
9.2	Change Requests /Variations	Refer
		Manual
		9.2
a)	The conditions of contract will normally empower the PE to vary the scope, quality or quantity	
	of Works, Services and Information Systems to be executed at any time during the progress	
	of the contract and provided the basis for such change and valuation of such changes within approved limits is justifiable.	
b)	The CAO/AO shall appoint the 'Change Control Committee (CCC)' to examine the changes/ associated time extensions and to make recommendations.	
c)	Any contract change request/variation shall obtain prior approval by the relevant authority.	
d)	However, before committing any expenditure due to changes proposed, necessary financial	
	provision shall be available and relevant total cost estimate shall be duly revised and necessary prior approvals from the appropriate authority obtained.	
9.3	Extension of Time	
Ext	ensions of time may be granted by an appropriate authority, in exceptional circumstances or due	
to 1	Force majeure situations, when the contractor or the supplier establishes, to the satisfaction of	
the	PE, that delays are attributable to circumstances beyond the control of the contractor/supplier.	
9.4	Debarment or Blacklisting of Defaulted Bidders/Contractors/Suppliers	Refer
		Manual
		9.4
An	y defaulted contractor/bidder/supplier shall be considered for blacklisting or banning to	
par	ticipate in the public Procurement Process for a period specified by the appropriate authority.	
	C and the CAO/AO shall maintain a database of defaulting contractors/suppliers which shall be	
upo	lated regularly. After obtaining the information from particular PE the relevant CAO/AO shall	
inf	orm NPC the details of the contractor/supplier to be included in the list maintained by the NPC.	
The	e PEs should not award any contracts to any bidder, as long as their names remain in the data e.	

PROCUREMENT OF ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS

10.1 P	rocurement of Essential Requirements	
	ement of essential requirements to ensure day to day operations of the PEs often	
involve	s multiple awards for partial quantities to assure continuity of supply and multiple	
purchas	ses over a period of time to take advantage of favourable market conditions.	
a)	PEs may maintain a list of pre-qualified bidders for procurement of such requirements through issuing of periodic invitations.	
b)	bidders may be invited to quote prices, which prevails at the time of Invitation.	
c)	bid/proposal validities shall be as short as possible.	
d)	if the price of the commodity, which intended to procure is not in local currency, bidding currency should be specified in the Procurement Document.	
e)	Procurement Documents may permit electronic, telexed or faxed bids/proposals, if there is no requirement for bid security, or if standing bid securities valid over a specified period of time have been submitted by pre-qualified bidders.	
f)	standard contract conditions and forms consistent with market practices shall be used.	
10.2 P	rocurement of Spare Parts	
PEs ma	y purchase spare parts from the original manufacturer of equipment, or their authorized	
local ag	gent or independent manufactures of spare parts, or spare part dealers, considering the age.	
10.3 R	epairs to Motor Vehicles and Equipment	Refer Manual 10.3
agents	to motor vehicles and other equipment may be carried out through the local accredited of the manufacturer provided that the PE is satisfied that the quotation is reasonable,	
having	taken into account the economy of the repair cost, the age and condition of the vehicles.	
10.4 P	eriodicals and Publications	
	cals and publications may be purchased directly from the publishers or from their	

10.5 Purchasing of Fuel	
Requirements of fuel may be purchased from depot/s closer to the PE.	
10.6 Procurement of Pharmaceuticals and Medical Equipment	
Procurement of drugs, vaccines, medical devices, biological products, nutritional additives and contraceptives hereinafter collectively referred to as pharmaceuticals is a complex and a unique process which requires special attention.	
A separate publication containing Guidelines relating to the procurement of pharmaceuticals will be issued by the NPC to address the special concerns relating to pharmaceuticals procurement.	
The broad principles of procurement outlined in these Guidelines, will however, continue to be applicable to the extent possible, for the procurement of pharmaceuticals, unless they have been amended/modified in the Guidelines for the procurement of pharmaceuticals. In the event of a conflict between these Guidelines and the Guidelines for the procurement of pharmaceuticals, the latter shall prevail.	
These Guidelines will continue to be applicable as the appropriate Guidelines for the procurement of medical equipment.	

CHAPTER 11 PROCUREMENT OF INFORMATION SYSTEMS (IS)

11.1 Info	ormation System (IS) Procurement	
computing	ement is the common term used to designate all procurements having to do with g and communication technologies regardless of their hardware, software, supply, or emponents such as installation, operation, and maintenance.	
•	ement is also conducted on the Guidelines and procedures described through chapter er 9 of this Guideline.	
11.2 Pro	curement Documents to be Used	Refer Manual 11.2
11.2.1	Straightforward IS Procurements	Refer Manual 11.2.1
	In procurement of straightforward IS products, PE defines required products, their technical specifications and service requirements.	
11.2.2	Complex Supply and Installation and Complex System Engineering Procurements	Refer Manual 11.2.2
	In this procurement bidder bears much of the design risk since it undertakes the responsibility to design and build a system that reaches operational acceptance.	
11.2.3	IS Consulting Services	Refer Manual 11.2.3
	When using the RFP approach for this type of assignments, there would need to be some customization of the standard RFP issued by the GOSL for the Selection of Consultants.	
11.2.4	Pre-qualification (PQ)/Initial Selection	Refer Manual 11.2.4
	Prequalification/Initial Selection is normally used with Requests for Proposals (RFP) and is optional depending on the nature and complexity of the IS procurement.	

FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

12.1 Introduction The Framework Agreement is an arrangement to enable timely supply of Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems, which are commonly used by Procuring Entities to procure Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems which have national significance, in desired quality and at prices attributable to economies of scale resulting from bulk purchases ensuring value for money. A Central Procurement Entity or Procuring Entity on its own and on behalf of other Procuring Entities may administer Framework Procurements and enters in to Framework Agreements with suppliers so that Procuring Entities may obtain value for money in their purchasing while being assured that their procurement is compliant with the procurement Guidelines. FWAs may be established for the anticipated procurement of Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems, as and when required, over a specified period of time. FWA does not commit either party to procure or supply. Once established, a FWA provides a fast and efficient way to procure Goods, Works or Services. A multi- supplier FWA allows a PE to select from a number of firms, helping to ensure that each procurement represents best value for money. FWAs may be appropriate for the procurement of Goods, Works, Services or Information Systems under the following circumstances: i. frequent reordering is based on the same, or similar requirements, or set of specifications; ii. where different departments and units under a Ministry or public agency or different Procuring Entities procure the same Goods, Works, Services or Information Systems, and aggregating the demand could lead to volume discounts; iii. planning for emergency situations; or iv. no single firm is considered to have sufficient capacity. 12.2 Features of Framework Agreement Refer Manual 12.2 A Framework Agreement sets out the terms and conditions for subsequent Call-Off Contracts but places no obligations on the Procuring Entity to place future purchase orders, does not require or obligate Procuring Entity to issue any minimum number or value of purchase orders,

and does not guarantee any minimum or maximum amount of expenditure.

12.3 Responsibility for Management of Framework Agreement	Refer Manual 12.3
A Central Procurement Entity or Procurement Entity, on its own or on behalf of other Procuring Entities must closely manage the framework agreement.	
12.4 Procedural and Implementation Arrangements The procurement of items which are of common use to Procuring Entities shall be carried out in accordance with the provisions complying with the Guidelines and procedures prescribed through chapter 1 to chapter 9 of this Guideline.	Refer Manual 12.4
12.5 Procurement Management	Refer Manual 12.5
Procurement management in a Framework Agreement is based on the Call-Off Contract as issued by the Procuring Entity. Issuance of Call-Off Contract depends on the provisions laid out in the terms and conditions of the Framework Agreement.	

Note: NPC will issue an Operational Manual with the concurrence of the relevant institutions enabling adoption of the provisions of the chapter.

e-GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT (e-GP)

13.1 Introduction	
An e-GP is a process that uses the Internet and Internet tools to support every stage of the Procurement Process.	
The conversion from conventional (paper based) government procurement activities to e-GP is becoming an international trend in many countries in the World. GOSL is in the process of getting ready to implement e-GP in the country for Goods, Works, Services, Information Systems and Consultancy Services. However, there are major issues and challenges that need to be addressed before the implementation of fully pledged e-GP system.	
An e-Government Procurement (e-GP) is defined as the collaborative use of information and communications technologies by Government Entities, bidding community, regulatory agencies, egal authorities, National Procurement Commission, Ministry of Finance, other supporting service providers, and civil society in conducting ethical procurement activities of the Government procurement process cycle for the procurement of Goods, Works, Services, Information Systems, Consultancy Services and management of contracts ensuring good governance and value-formoney in public procurement, and contributing to the socio economic development of country.	
13.2 Implementation Process of e-GP at the PEs	Refer Manual 13.2
All stages of procurement cycle of the PEs can benefit from an e-GP such as procurement planning, pre-qualification, advertising, PPP advertisements, preparation and issuance of Procurement Documents, pre-bid conference, and issuing pre-bid meetings minutes, issuing addendums, modifications and revising Procurement Documents, clarifications, modification and addendas, receipt of bids/proposals, unsolicited proposals, bid/proposal closing, bid/proposal opening, evaluation of bids/proposals, request for clarifications, and contract award notification, and publication of contract award results.	
13.3 Fully fledged e-GP system to be implemented by the PEs	
PEs may use an e-GP for all of their procurement activities provided the appropriate authority is satisfied with the adequacy and competence of the system, including; - accessibility - security of process - authentication - integrity - confidentiality - reliability - reliability - audit trial features - electronic signatures - design and implement an e-GP management system - identification of requirements	
legal obligations/ Acts/ agreements/legislative approaches, and other mandatory	

13.4 Good Governance in Public Procurement: Key to e-GP

The procurement principles and objectives, particularly transparency and non-discrimination must be met if e-GP systems are to be applied to the activities of Public Procurement similar to paper-based procurement.

The principle of non-discrimination between paper-based and e-procurement shall, as far as practical, be reflected in the e-GP system. PE shall have in place the transitional option of paper-based procurement for bidders/consultants who wish it or who do not have access to e-GP. The e-GP system must be designed to ensure;

- · accountability
- · efficiency and effectiveness
- · fraud and corruption control
- · equity and ethics
- rule of law and predictability
- · civil society awareness
- equality of access and fairness,
- · open competition,
- · security of process

The following requirements are designed to support these principles for PEs procurement activities. Converting these principles into operational effect has implications for variables such as;

- technological neutrality,
- technical standards for interoperability and security,
- ensuring good audit trails,
- cost and ease of participation.

These requirements supplement and do not replace existing requirements that apply to traditional procurement procedures specified in the Procurement Guidelines & Manuals published by the NPC.

13.5 e-GP System Access

Refer Manual 13.5

When e-GP is to be applied to PE's procurement activities, it shall have the minimum features specified in the Procurement Manual.

NPC encourage individual PEs to use e-GP depending on the availability of resources that must be met. When e-GP is implemented by PEs, they shall follow the mandatory requirements and processes specified in the Procurement Guidelines issued for traditional paper-based procurement by NPC if it is not provided in this Guidelines and Manuals.

13.6 Procurement Plan	
Where a PE intends to use an e-procurement system, it shall prepare its master plan, detail plan, and other procurement plans through the system and publish it in the relevant web sites (PE's website, NPC website, FFA's websites-if applicable / e-GP portal-if available).	
13.7 Bidder Registration	
Bidders (suppliers, contractors, and consultants) may register as a single entity, joint venture or association with sub-contractors or sub-consultants, or individual consultant through an online application form provided by the PE's e-GP system for registration.	
13.8 PE's Requisition	
Where the e-GP system is in operation, PEs shall request all the procurement requirements through the e-GP system.	
13.9 e-Advertising	Refer Manual 13.9
The notice for "Invitation for Bid/Application/Proposal" and other procurement opportunities shall be published in the PE's web site, NPC web site, and FFA's web sites-if applicable and depending on the value of contract /e-GP Portal-if available. Notice shall be published in local newspapers as well and there shall be no difference whatsoever between the paper advertisement and those advertised online.	
13.10 Procurement Documents	Refer Manual
PE may distribute Procurement Documents inclusive of RFPs by using electronic systems (downloaded from a website) or means (sent as email attachment, on a compact disc, or flash drive or other storage devices if appropriate). The email used shall be part and parcel of or dedicated to the e-GP system with adequate security and privacy controls. There shall be no difference between electronic and paper versions of the Procurement	13.10
There shall be no difference between electronic and paper versions of the Procurement Documents. Splitting documents into combinations of electronic and printed portions should be avoided.	

13.11 Correspondence, Clarifications, and Amendments	Refer
	Manual
	13.11
The e-GP system shall be interactive and have the capability to enable bidders participating in	
a procurement proceeding to request or seek information or clarification online. When a bidder	
makes an inquiry or seek information or clarification relating to the Procurement Documents, the	
PE shall promptly respond on line.	
12 state promptly response on me.	
Correspondence with bidders during this period may be done electronically as long as print	
correspondence is used for bidders who request it.	
If the response affects the requirements of the bid/proposal, it shall be copied to all bidders and	
shall include a description of the inquiry but without identifying the source.	
Copies of all correspondence shall be kept for audit.	
Cop. to or an conception with our nept for and in	
13.12 Pre-Bid Conference	Refer
13.12 TTe-Did Contened	Manual
	13.12
PE may carry out online pre-bid conference on the date, time and venue, as stipulate in the	13.12
Procurement Document (or/RFP).	
Responses/clarifications of the queries relating to the Procurement Documents should be posted	
by bidders online before or during the pre-bid conference. This is allowed to be done only by the	
bidders who purchased the documents.	
13.13 Amendments to the Procurement Document	
To the extent permissible under the Procurement Guidelines the PE may amend the Procurement	
Documents at any time prior to the bid/proposal submission deadline.	
PEs shall issue an addendum and publish in all related websites and also send via an automated	
electronic means (email, SMS alert etc) and make available online for the information of the public	
and the prospective bidders who have purchased/received the Procurement Document. However,	
there shall be a time period of minimum 10 working days or more between last correspondence	
and bid/proposal closing deadline.	

13.14 Submission of e-Bids/Proposals	Refer Manual 13.14
Online submissions shall be:	
a) submitted/received into an electronic bid box; and	
b) maintained to high standards of security, confidentiality and integrity.	
When the option is available, bids/proposals may be submitted electronically in the standard e-formats issued by the PE or in paper format. PEs may offer registered bidders the use of online electronic systems (uploaded through a website) to submit their bids/proposals.	
The date and time for the receipt of bids/proposals shall be the same for both regardless if submitted electronically or on paper. The terms and conditions of the e-submissions are given in the Manual.	
13.15 Bid Securities and Performance Securities	Refer Manual 13.15
In order to facilitate procurement when using electronic systems, bid securities may request by	
the PEs at their option. However, PEs if they so wish, may use other methods like bid declaration	
instead of bid securities and/or sanctioning method for bidders who do not honour their bids/proposals.	
13.16 Public Opening of e-Bids/Proposals	Refer Manual 13.16
If option is available, PE may use e-GP to open bids/proposals received to electronic bid box.	
The electronic bid box in above shall have;	
i) three passwords that are simultaneously time-activated;	
ii) each password shall be issued to different officers who are members of the Bid/Proposal Opening Committee(B/POC); and	
iii) the e-bid box shall remain closed until the time of bid/proposal opening.	
13.17 Evaluation of e-bids/e-proposals	Refer
	Manual
(a) The DE receiving the hidden at 1 1 110 Piles 1 of Co. 19 OFFC	13.17
(a) The PE receiving the bids/proposals should form a Bid Evaluation Committees (BECs) comprising of required number of members.	
(b) PE may use pre-approved automated electronic evaluations as long as the evaluation aligns with the criteria established in the Procurement Documents; is consistent with the principles of economy, efficiency, equal opportunity, and transparency.	
(c) A Bid Evaluation Report (BER) shall be prepared in accordance with the requirements specified in the Procurement Document. The BER shall contain scanned copies of the signed record of bid/proposal opening, the advertisement, and other documents for which copies are required. A print copy of the BER shall be kept on file for audit and NPC investigation purposes.	

13.18 Publication of Contract Awards Contract awards shall be published online consistent with bid advertising in the PE's website, NPC's website and FFA website if applicable. 13.19 Notification of Contract Award (NOA) Intention letter (a) A PE shall notify all bidders participating in the e-bidding process of the outcome of the award and intention to award the contract to successful bidder simultaneously electronically. (b) Unsuccessful bidders have the option of appealing like paper-based procurement. Copies of BER together with any consultant's reports that were submitted in relation to evaluation of the bid/proposal may be made available to any bidder at their request in terms of the Right to Information Act No. 12 of 2016. (c) Debarred bidders will be verified in NPC website before issuing NOA. (d) The PE shall sign and send electronically a notification to: the successful bidder that their bid/proposal was successful; and ii) to unsuccessful bidders that their bids/proposals were unsuccessful giving reasons thereof. (e) Successful bidder will accept the notification of award online using e-signature or digital signature whichever is applicable. (f) Contract will be signed, manually or digitally, by both parties. The content of documentation that is part of the e-GP system shall form part of the contract. 13.20 Contract Negotiation If provided for in the contract document, contract negotiation can be carried out online and negotiation records will be recorded in the electronic system. **13.21 Contract Management** If provided for, the electronic system shall be interactive and have the capability to provide functions of contract management including to generate purchase orders and receive invoices from suppliers, track deliveries, place call-off orders in case of Framework Agreements, monitor contract execution progress etc.

13.22 Payments for Procurement Documents (a) Prospective bidders shall have open and free access to all Specific Procurement Notices (SPNs) and Procurement Documents published in electronic format. No payment shall be required. (b) A nominal fee may be charged as a condition for submitting a bid/proposal. For the purpose of these requirements, nominal fee is expected to be an amount less than or similar to that charged for obtaining paper Procurement Documents. (c) Bidders shall be offered an electronic payment facility (e.g. electronic check, credit card) to avoid situations where bidders incur charges online but must visit an office to pay for them. 13.23 Records Management System The electronic system shall have a secure document management system. 13.24 Authentication If a digital certification/signature is required, the following shall apply. Bidders shall be certified for a reasonable period of time (at least 1 year) and shall not be required to request certification for each bid/proposal with the same PE. Certification shall be kept open permanently allowing bidders to submit the request for certification at any time to allow them to register in advance for future bidding process. (c) In the case of ICB, certification process shall allow bidders to take all actions required for their certification within their own countries, without the need to travel abroad. (d) Certification process shall accept an electronic signature or a digital certification/signature issued by certifying authorities within the country of the bidder or shall accept submission of online or offline documentation to certify the authenticity of the bidder's representative, accepting documentation that can be obtained under commonly used procedures in the country of the bidder (for example, no notarization in a consulate or embassy shall be required). 13.25 Information Security Management (ISM) Refer Manual 13.25 (a) For electronic system, the PE shall ensure to maintain, and implement an information security management system that conforms with international standards. (b) PE shall clearly specify in the Procurement Documents the procedures to be followed in the case of any kind of failure, malfunction, fault, crash or breakdown of the electronic system used during Procurement Process. PEs shall not accept any responsibility or liability for failures, interruptions or breakdowns other than in those systems strictly under PE's own control.

10.2	26 Electronic Procurement Models	Refer
		Manual
		13.26
(a)	PEs may use electronic systems under any of the models as explained in the Manual or	
	any other different model suitable for the purpose. However, before selecting an electronic	
	system by the PE, prior approval shall be obtained from the NPC.	
(b)	If the electronic system is operated by a third party under a service contract arrangement,	
	that third party service providers and their subsidiaries or parent companies shall be	
	ineligible to be awarded contracts on Procurement Process that are undertaken through the	
	said electronic system and their staff, consultants or other representatives shall enter into	
	such agreements with the PE sufficient to maintain secrecy and confidentiality.	
13.2	7 Applicability of the e-procurement Guidelines and Manuals	
13.2 (a)	27 Applicability of the e-procurement Guidelines and Manuals Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this	
(a)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this	
(a) (b)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply.	
	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply. Use of e-GP system is subject to the general laws of Sri Lanka.	
(a) (b)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply. Use of e-GP system is subject to the general laws of Sri Lanka. Any discrepancies between Procurement Guidelines and Manuals for Goods, Works,	
(a) (b)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply. Use of e-GP system is subject to the general laws of Sri Lanka. Any discrepancies between Procurement Guidelines and Manuals for Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems or Procurement Guidelines for Selection and Employment	
(a) (b)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply. Use of e-GP system is subject to the general laws of Sri Lanka. Any discrepancies between Procurement Guidelines and Manuals for Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems or Procurement Guidelines for Selection and Employment of Consultants and in the applications of any of the requirements in this e-GP Chapter 13,	
(a) (b) (c)	Irrespective of who operates the system all terms, requirements and conditions of this guidelines and manuals shall apply. Use of e-GP system is subject to the general laws of Sri Lanka. Any discrepancies between Procurement Guidelines and Manuals for Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems or Procurement Guidelines for Selection and Employment of Consultants and in the applications of any of the requirements in this e-GP Chapter 13, clarifications shall be obtained by the NPC and final decision of the NPC shall prevail.	

Note: NPC will issue an Operational Manual with the concurrence of the relevant institutions enabling adoption of the provisions of the Chapter.

CHAPTER 14 OPEN CONTRACTING DATA STANDARD (OCDS)

14.1 In	troduction	Refer Manual 14.1
(OCP).	n Contracting Data Standard (OCDS) is a core product of the Open Contracting Partnership Γhe objective of the data standard is to support Governments to publish contracting data e accessible, inter-operable and useful manner and to enable the widest possible range of ders to use contracting data effectively.	
an e-Pro introduc	delines describe the OCDS presents a high-level approach for each implementation in ocurement system. If the OCDS is implemented in an e-Procurement system when first ed by incorporating OCDS within the system itself, the system specification phase must y define OCDS-specific requirements (e.g. data fields, triggers, reports, visualizer).	
	ting the OCDS into the contracting process, the expected benefits are important for key ders. The users may use open contracting data in order to:	
a)	achieve value for money;	
b)	provide the potential to increase trust and transparency with the public, for the Government;	
c)	strengthen the transparency, accountability and integrity of public contracting;	
d)	access and review details of public contracting processes and monitor spending to ensure that citizens are getting the best outcomes, for the non-governmental organizations;	
e)	enable the private sector to compete for public contracts;	
f)	monitor service delivery (from both aid and budget-executed projects) for effectiveness;	
g)	get involved in decision making, for the general public;	
h)	reduce opportunities for fraudulent or corrupt use of public resources.	
The pub	lication of data could be organized in the following manner;	
i.	proactive publication requirement;	
ii	timing and frequency of publication;	
ii	i. formats and licences of publication;	
iv	r. procurements and contracts;	
V	stakeholder engagement.	
	andard	Refer Manual 14.2
contract ties toge with pla	DS is used to describe unique contracting processes. The first step towards publishing opening data is to identify the contracting processes in the system data. A contracting process ther information about the different stages related to the lifespan of a contract, beginning nning and progressing through initiation and implementation stages accordingly, as well g when a contract is either completed or closed.	

Note: NPC will issue an Operational Manual with the concurrence of the relevant institutions enabling adoption of the provisions of the Chapter.

GREEN PUBLIC PROCUREMENT

15.1 Intro	duction to Green Public Procurement	Refer
		Manual
		15.1
	latory that all Government Institutions take into account environmental considerations uring Goods, Works, Services and Information Systems.	
consideration takes into t	lic Procurement (GPP) is a Public Procurement, which integrates environmental ons in the whole Public Procurement process including planning and procurement and he consideration the entire life cycle of the goods, works or service. In addition, it is to be appropriate and one of the most effective tools seeking to reduce negative impacts	
on the envi	ronment.	
15.1.1	Green Public Procurement Policy	Refer Manual 15.1.1
	Sri Lanka Government has taken a policy decision to adopt green procurement practice as a mandatory requirement and to include basic premises in the new Procurement Guidelines.	13.1.1
	Green procurement means procuring Goods, Works and Services that cause minimal adverse environmental impacts. The procurement procedure itself includes human health and environmental concerns and those safeguard measures which are to be included in the tender documents. Specifically, Government Institutions are encouraged to avoid single use disposable items and purchase products, works and services and efforts to be given to the following points;	
	 with improved recyclability, high recycle contents, reduce packing and greater durability and where ever possible using green material; 	
	b) with greater energy efficiency;	
	c) utilizing clean technology and or clean fuel;	
	d) which result in reduced water consumption, and increase water harvesting;	
	e) which emit fewer irritating or toxic substances during installation or use;	
	f) which result in smaller production of toxic substances or of less toxic substance upon disposal and sustainable garbage disposal;	
	g) apply where ever possible; the polluter pays principle and the producer responsibility.	

15.	15.2 Guiding Principles of GPP	
		Manual
		15.2
a)	Achieving economic, social and environmental development challenges;	
b)	Minimizing and or avoiding unnecessary purchasing/consumption with: waste, toxicity,	
	habitat destruction, soil degradation, greenhouse gas emissions;	
c)	$\textbf{Maximizing efficiency and outcome:} \ Resource \ efficiency, energy \ efficiency, water \ efficiency,$	
	value for money, competitive advantage, and the purchase of eco-labelled/environmentally	
	preferred products/services,education for sustainability opportunities and safety;	
d)	Life cycle and sustainable production and consumption principles: GPP shall be applied	
(u)	to improve productivity and eco-efficiency of the resources use and environmental quality;	
	to improve productivity and eco emercine of the resources use and environmental quanty,	
e)	The polluter pays principle, the precautionary principle and the producer	
	responsibility (product stewardship): GPP shall be applied to reduce resource consumption	
	to the maximum extent possible through out the life cycle of the product and service and to	
	maximize environmental and social responsibility;	
f)	Government institutions spearhead: Government institutions shall be obligated to follow	
	rules and procedures for GPP and related budgeting to ensure transparency and efficient use of	
	public funds at all levels using value for money functional principle (VE process);	
۵)	Environmental accountability: GPP shall be recognized and assured as an essential means	
g)	of accountable implementation of Public Procurement; and	
	or action of racine in the residence of the residence in	
h)	Good Governance: GPP shall ensure the Good Governance through the environmental	
	performance consideration in Public Procurement at all levels.	
15	3 Introducing GPP Strategy	Refer
13.	5 Introducing GIT Strategy	Manual
		15.3
То	achieve GPP objective, the NPC and Ministry of Environment with the help of other Ministries	
sha		
	A character in the conduction has a Children at the Conduction of	
	a) educate, initiate and stimulate of debate regarding the use of Green Public Procurement	
	(GPP) and Sustainable Public Procurement (SPP) in the country;	
	b) exchange of good practice between Procuring Entities by establishing a platform for	
	exchange of experiences, information and knowledge on the arrangements for GPP and	
	SPP;	

c)	elaborate and advises, criteria and indicators to be used in public tendering in view of promoting GPP and SPP;	
d)	foster public procurement planning, in order to timely integrate GPP and SPP criteria in to the Procurement Process;	
e)	first starting strategy of GPP is to begin with commonly use Goods, Works and Services and to expand the green procurement list;	
f)	encourage in getting green building or green material certification.	
15.4 R	Role play by the Ministry of Environment	Refer Manual 15.4
	finistry in charge of the subject of environment shall establish an Inter-Agency Expert ittee on Green Public Procurement. (IAEC- GPP).	
15.5 Iı	ntroducing Green Specifications for Commonly Used Items	Refer Manual 15.5
existing	may develop green specifications for commonly used products, Goods and Works using g certified material by local green certification organizations. Each PE shall obtain approval ir green specifications from IAEC.	
15.6 In	nclusion of Green Public Procurement criteria in Procurement Documents	Refer Manual 15.6
features adequa	purchase of common use items, each PE may be adopted green specifications as "mandatory" is in the bid/proposal specifications when the products are available on the market with the models and quantities in supply. In this connection, "mandatory" green requirements are ed in the Manual.	
will be	w green specifications developed with uncertain market availability, green specifications as included in the bid/proposal specifications as "desirable" features. "Desirable" green ements are also specified in the Manual.	
15.7 E	Evaluation of Bids/Proposals with Green Criteria	Refer Manual 15.7
	d Evaluation Committee (BEC) will evaluate bids/proposals which can meet the mandatory s and recommend either the lowest conforming offer (for a bid/proposal without a marking	

In order to encourage potential suppliers to offer products that can comply with green specifications, consideration may also be given to adopting a marking scheme with appropriate weighting for green specifications against the price offered. For this purpose, prior approval has to be obtained from the Procurement Committee (PC). In drawing up the marking scheme, due weight should be given to whether it will achieve the value for money objective. BEC will keep record of the bids/proposals that can meet the "desirable" green specifications and review the market availability of products meeting individual green specifications on a regular basis based on the bid/proposal responses and market information, with a view to changing them into "mandatory" or "desirable requirements attracting marks" in future bidding exercises when circumstances warrant. Individual "desirable" green specifications without sufficient models or quantities in supply will continue to be included as "desirable" features. 15.8 Annual Report on Green Product Purchase Refer Manual 15.8 To monitor the green product purchasing situation, the NPC will invite the Procuring Entities to submit a report on its last calendar year's purchases within the first two months of each calendar year. Procuring Entities are advised to go through the green product list and check whether the products to be purchased are included on the list. If products to be purchased are listed, the Procuring entity should try to apply the recommended green specifications by making reference to the practice mentioned in paragraphs 15.6 and 15.7 above and include the item code and green specification code as recommended by the IAEC in the common use item list. In parallel, the Procuring Entities should consolidate the information of the product ID, purchase values and the information on whether green specifications are adopted or not and whether the final purchases meet such green specifications for incorporation into the annual report to NPC. **15.9 Cost Implication** Procuring Entities should absorb any additional cost incurred in procuring Goods, Works and Services with green specifications. While costs of these products and services may in some cases be higher than those without green features, it is expected that the Government's initiative of taking the lead on green procurement would facilitate the development of the relevant market and the prices of products meeting green specifications would be lowered over time. Procuring Entities shall prepare life cycle cost in case of procuring Goods with the life over three years and it is mandatory in the case of Works.

Note: NPC will issue an Operational Manual with the concurrence of the relevant institutions enabling adoption of the provisions of the Chapter.

PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS (PPP)

16.1 Public Private Partnerships (PPP)	
PPP is broadly defined as a long-term contract between a private investor and Government Entity for providing a public asset or service, in which the private investor bears significant risks and management responsibility.	
The private investor may finance the cost of the project or the contract procured under PPP arrangement Build- Own- Operate (BOO), Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) and Build-Own- Operate-Transfer (BOOT), Design-Build-Own-Operate-Transfer (DBOOT) concessions or similar type or private arrangement if the selection is consistent with the NPC core procurement principles.	



Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka

PROCUREMENT GUIDELINES 2019

Selection and Employment of Consultants

NATIONAL PROCUREMENT COMMISSION

Contents

DEFINITIONS	7
ACRONYMS	9
CHAPTER 1 – GENERAL	10
1.1 Purpose	10
1.2 Objectives	10
1.3 Scope of Application	11
1.3.1 Scope of Consultancy Services	11
1.3.2 Guidelines of Foreign Funding Agencies	12
1.4 Ethics in Selection and Employment of Consultants	12
1.4.1 Confidentiality	12
1.4.2 Fraud and Corruption	13
1.4.3 Conflict of Interest	14
1.4.4 Unfair Competitive Advantage	15
1.5 Laws Applicable to Procurement Actions	15
1.6 Consulting Services Leading to Downstream Procurement	15
CHAPTER 2 - GOVERNANCE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS	
2.1 National Procurement Commission (NPC)	
2.1.1. Role of the NPC	16
2.2 Roles and Responsibilities of Chief Accounting Officer and Accounting Officer	
(CAO and AO)	
2.3 Roles and Responsibilities of Procuring Entity (PE)	16
2.4 Appointment of Consultant Selection Committees (CSCs) and Payments for CSCs Members	17
2.4.1 High Level Consultants Selection Committees (HLCSC)	17
2.4.2 Ministry Consultants Selection Committee (MCSC)	17
2.4.3 Department Consultants Selection Committee (DCSC)	17
2.4.4 Project Consultants Selection Committee (PCSC)	17
2.4.5 Payment for members of Consultants Selection Committes (CSCs) Staff officers &	17
Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Process	
2.5 Authority Limits for Determination of Contract Award.	18

CHAPTER 3 – SELECTION PROCESS AND SELECTION METHODS OF CONSU	
FIRMS AND INDIVIDUAL CONSULTANTS	19
3.1 Methods for the Selection of Consultancy Firm	19
3.1.1 Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS)	20
3.1.2 Quality Based Selection (QBS)	20
3.1.3 Fixed Budget- based Selection (FBS)	21
3.1.4 Least Cost Selection (LCS)	21
3.1.5 Consultant's Qualification-based Selection (CQS)	22
3.1.6 Direct Selection - Single Source Selection (SSS)	22
3.1.7 Selection of Particular Type of Consultants	23
3.1.8 Preparation of Terms of Reference (TOR)	24
3.1.9 Preparation of Long List	25
3.1.10 Preparation of Shortlist	25
3.2 Selection of Individual Consultants	26
3.2 1 Selection of Individual Consultants	26
3.2.2 Terms of Reference (TOR) for the Selection of Individual Consultants	26
3.2.3 Advertising	26
3.2.4 Selection on Competitive Basis	27
3.2.5 Single Source Selection (SSS)	27
3.2.6 Terms of Appointment	27
CHAPTER 4 - PROCUREMENT PLANNING	28
4.1 Procurement Planning.	28
4.1.1 Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	28
4.1.2 Procurement Plan (PP)	29
4.1.3 Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	29
4.2 Publication of Procurement Plan and Time Frame for Procurement Actions	30
4.3 Total Cost Estimate (TCE) of the Procurement	30
4.3.1 Approving of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	31
4.3.2 Update of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	31
4.4 Expression of Interest	31
4.4.1 Publication of Request for Expression of Interest (REOI)	31
4.4.2 Content of the REOI	31
4.4.3 Criteria for Short-listing of Consultancy Firms.	32
4 4 4 Criteria for Short-listing of Individual Consultants	32.

CHAPTER 5 - REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) DOCUMENTS	33
5.1 Preparation of Draft Request for Proposal (RFP) Document	33
5.2 Contents of RFP Document	33
5.3 Standard Request for Proposal (SRFP) Document	33
5.4 Request for Proposals (RFP's) Publication	33
5.5 Letter of Invitation (LOI)	34
5.6 Instructions to Consultants (ITC)	34
5.7 Eligibility of Consultants	34
5.8 Equal Treatment for Foreign and National Consultants	34
5.9 Proposal Validity Period	35
5.10 Time for Submission of Proposals	35
5.11 Clarity of RFP Documents	35
5.12 Clarifications and Amendments to RFP	36
5.13 Association between Consultants	36
5.14 Value Added Tax	37
5.15 Evaluation Criteria and Qualification Requirements	37
5.16 Standard Forms of Contract	37
5.16.1 Draft Contract to be Issued	37
5.17 Conditions of Contract	38
5.18 Price Adjustment.	38
5.19 Payment Provisions	38
5.20 Advance Payment	39
5.20.1 Performance Security	39
5.21 Dispute Resolution	39
5.22 The Law of Contract	39
5.23 Terms of Reference (TOR)	39
5.24 Technical and Financial Proposals Standard Forms	39
CHAPTER 6-PROPOSAL PROCESS	40
6.1 Issuance of RFP Documents	40
6.2 Proposal Preparation Period	40
6.3 Submission/Receipt of Proposals	
6.4 Rejection of Late Proposals	
6.5 Public Opening of Proposals	
6 6 Procedure of Opening Financial Proposals	41

CHAPTER 7-EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS	42
7.1 General	42
7.2 Confidentiality	42
7.3 Services of Outside Expert/s for Evaluation of Proposals	42
7.4 Time Frame for Proposal Evaluation.	
7.5 Extension of Proposal Validity	42
7.6 Original Proposal to be Evaluated	43
7.7 Purpose and Stages of Proposal Evaluation	43
7.8 Evaluation of Technical Proposal	44
7.8.1 CSC to agree on the Rating System in Advance	
7.8.2 Evaluation to be Carried out by CSC	44
7.8.3 Strengths and Weaknesses of Each Proposal to be Recorded	44
7.8.4 Evaluation Based on Disclosed Criteria	45
7.9 Technical Proposal Evaluation Form	45
7.10 Clarifications from Consultants During Evaluation	45
7.11 Opening of Financial Proposals	45
7.12 Evaluation of Financial Proposals	46
7.13 Negotiation with the Highest Ranked Consultant	47
7.13.1 Negotiation in case of QCBS, FBS and LCS	47
7.13.2 Negotiation in Case of QBS, CQS and SSS	48
7.14 Combined Evaluation Report	49
7.15 Rejection of all Proposals Received	
CHAPTER 8 - AWARD OF CONTRACT	50
8.1 Recommendation/Determination of Contract Award	50
8.2 Communication to all Consultants of the Intention to Award Contract	50
8.3 Debriefing	50
8.4 Standstill Period	
8.5 Appeals against Contract Awards Recommended by the HLCSC/MCSC/DCSC or PCSC	51
8.5.1 Appointment of Procurement Appeal Boards (PAB), Reporting and Operational Responsibilities and Payments for PAB Members	52
8.5.2 PABs for High Level Procurements related to HLCSC	52
8.5.3 MPABs for Ministry level Procurements related to MCSC	
8.5.4 DPAB/PPAB for Department/Project level Procurements related to DCSC/PCSC	
8.5.5 Payments for Members of Procurement Appeal Boards (PAB) and Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Appeal Process	53

8.6 Contract Award Procedure	53
8.7 Formal Contract	53
8.8 Publication of Contract Award	53
CHAPTER 9 - CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION	54
9.1 Contract Administration	54
9.2 Variation of Contract/Change Requests	54
9.3 Extension of Time	54
9.4 Debarring or Blacklisting of Defaulting Consultants	54
9.5 Supervising the Consultants	54
9.6 Types of Contracts	55

DEFINITIONS

Unless the context otherwise requires the Terms whenever used in these Guidelines have the following meanings:

"Consultant"

Means a variety of legally and financially autonomous public and private entities, joint ventures, or individuals (not engaged by the PE as an employee) that provide services of an advisory or professional nature.

"Consulting Service"

Covers a range of services that are of an advisory or professional nature and are provided by consultants such as policy advice, institutional reforms, capacity building, communications consultants, management consultants, engineering services, quantity surveying, architectural services, construction supervision, feasibility studies, pre-investment studies, finance and accounting services, procurement services, social and environmental studies, identification, preparation, and implementation of projects, project management, training and development.

"Consultants Selection"

Obtaining by Procuring Entities of Consulting Services by the most appropriate means, with public funds or funds from any other source whether local or foreign received by way of loans, grants, gifts, donations, contributions and similar receipts.

"Contract Price"

Means the amount of money that is to be paid under a contract to render a service. Contract Price is stated in the Notification of Award and thereafter as adjusted in accordance with the provisions of the Contract. In some specific cases, the Contract Price is fixed using agreed price formula as stipulated in a contract.

"Foreign Funding Agency"

Means any multi-lateral or bi-lateral agency which has entered or intends to enter into an agreement with the Government of Sri Lanka for financing a project or program.

"Foreign Funded Project"

Means a project fully or partially financed by a Foreign Funding Agency.

"Fraud and Corruption"

Means any activity including activities such as corruption, fraud, collusion, coercion, or obstruction that is contrary to the achievement of objectives of Public Procurement by any person or entity connected to the Procurement Process in any manner including a person who holds the position of trust.

"Goods"

Means all commodities, raw materials, products, Plant & machinery, equipment, livestock, and other physical objects of every description, whether in solid, liquid, gaseous or living form.

"Government Institutions"

Means a Ministry, a government department, a public corporation, a local authority, any business or other undertaking vested in the Government and a Company registered or deemed to be registered under the Companies Act, No. 7 of 2007, in which the Government, a public corporation or any local authority holds more than fifty percent (50%) of the shares.

"Guidelines"

Means these Guidelines for Selection and Employment of Consultants.

"In Writing"

Means communicated or recorded in written form. It includes, for example: mail, e-mail, fax or communication through an electronic procurement system (provided that the electronic system is accessible, secure, ensures integrity and confidentiality, and has sufficient audit trail features).

"Master Procurement Plan"

Means a document prepared by the Procurement Entity, listing all the procurements envisaged to be carried out during a period of three years in medium term budgeting perspectives, with tentative dates to carry out such procurement.

"Non-consulting Services"

Means Services which are not Consulting Services. Non-Consulting Services are normally bid and contracted on the basis of performance of measurable outputs, and for which performance standards can be clearly identified and applied. Examples include: drilling, aerial photography, satellite imagery, mapping, electricity, water supply, cleaning, security, cargo clearance, and other utility services and similar operations.

"Procuring Entity"

Means a Government Institution, which the particular procurement is meant for.

"Procurement Action"

Means any action in furtherance of the Selection and Employment of Consultants.

"Procurement Process"

Means, for purposes of this Guideline the obtaining by Procuring Entities Consulting Services, by the most appropriate means, with public funds or funds from any other source whether local or foreign received by way of loans, grants, gifts, donations, contributions and similar receipts.

"Works"

Means a category of Procurement that refers to construction, decoration, repair, retrofitting, refurbishment, renovation, rehabilitation, demolition, restoration, maintenance of buildings, infrastructure, civil works structures and other associated activities

ACRONYMS

AO - Accounting Officer

CAO - Chief Accounting Officer

CQS - Consultant's Qualification Based Selection

CSC - Consultant Selection Committee

CV - Curriculum Vitae

DCSC - Department Consultant Selection Committee

e-GP - e-Government Procurement
EOI - Expressions of Interest
FBS - Fixed Budget Selection
FFA - Foreign Funding Agency
GOSL - Government of Sri Lanka
HD - Heads of Departments

HLCSC - High Level Consultant Selection Committee

ICB - International Competitive Bidding

LCS - Least Cost Selection LKR - Sri Lanka Rupees

MCSC - Ministry Consultant Selection Committee

MPP - Master Procurement Plan
 NCB - National Competitive Bidding
 NPC - National Procurement Commission
 PCSC - Project Consultant Selection Committee

PE - Procuring Entity
PP - Procurement Plan

PTS - Procurement Time Schedule
QBS - Quality Based Selection

QCBS - Quality and Cost Based Selection
REOI - Request for Expressions of Interest

RFP - Request for Proposal
SSS - Single Source Selection
TCE - Total Cost Estimate
TOR - Terms of Reference

GENERAL

1.1	Purpose	Refer
		Manual
		1.1
	The purpose of these Guidelines is to establish governing principles and procedures to ensure	
	value for money (VfM), in an efficient, fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost-	
	effective selection process by the Government Institutions for Selection and Employment of	
'	Consultants.	
1.2	Objectives	
The	e Procurement Process should ensure:	
a)	high level of integrity across the Procurement Process and beyond following the principles	
	of transparency, efficiency, accountability, equal treatment, rule of law, citizen engagement,	
	anti-corruption, integrity, and anti-fraudulent practices;	
b)	understanding and communication of clear requirements of needs and objectives;	
c)	selection of fit for purpose procurement method and contractual arrangements based on the	
<i>C)</i>	nature, context, complexity, risk and value of the procurement;	
d)	appropriate specification or scope of work of the requirements;	
e)	the need for high quality and standard of services;	
f)	adhering to prescribed standards, rules, regulations and good governance;	
g)	compliance with local laws and regulations and international obligations;	
h)	ensuring appropriate evaluation criteria with transparency and consistency in the evaluation	
	and selection procedure that allow timely, cost effective, responsive procedure acceptable to	
	the Government of Sri Lanka and/or Foreign Funding Agencies;	
i)	enhancing stakeholders trust in the entire Procurement Process;	
j)	promotion and development of local Consultant; and	
k)	efficient and justified use of public funds.	
'	· 1	

1.3 Scope of	of Application	Refer
		Manual
		1.3
These Guide Institutions.	elines are applicable to all Consulting Services carried out by the Government	
	elines repeal, replace or otherwise supersede all previous Procurement Guidelines, d Circulars on the subject of selection & employment of Consultants.	
Procurement	elines will take effect and come into operations on a date as specified by the National t Commission (NPC) (Effective Date) which shall be within 30 days after the approval delines by the Parliament.	
which are re which shall l	as procedures, authority limits, threshold limits, explanations and time schedules etc. elevant to provisions of these Guidelines are stipulated in the Procurement Manual be read in conjunction with the Guidelines. These details will be updated periodically Procurement Commission (NPC).	
plans and proplan, service under Consu accounts, an processes an The Guidelin	ancy activities include entire process of selection of Consultants, preparation of work-ocurement plan for consultancy service procurement, implementation of procurement exprocurement, monitoring and evaluation of Consultant's performance, disbursement altant's contracts, preparation and maintenance of financial statements and service ad conduct of audit. The scope of this document is to set out a guideline covering the ad operating procedures for the activities described above. The scope of this document is to set out a guideline covering the adoption of the activities described above. The scope of this document is to set out a guideline covering the adoption of the activities described above.	
1.3.1 So	cope of Consultancy Services	
	 a) Covers a range of services that are of an advisory or professional nature and are provided by Consultants. b) Consultancy Services include formulation of long, medium and short-term strategies and selection of national and international advisors and Consultants to conclude the assignments in a manner that all targets are ultimately achieved. The type of Consulting Services covered in these Guidelines include but not limited to policy advice, institutional reforms, capacity building, communications consultants, management consultants, engineering services, architectural services, quantity surveying services, value management services, construction supervision, feasibility studies, pre-investment studies, finance and accounting services, technical auditing, procurement services, customized software design and development services, social and environmental studies, identification, preparation, and implementation of projects, project management, training and development etc. 	

1.3.2	Guidelines of Foreign Funding Agencies	
	In the case of Foreign Funded Projects, if the Foreign Funding Agency mandates the use	
	of Procurement Regulations/Guidelines of such funding agency, such funding agency	
	Regulations/Guidelines shall prevail over these Guidelines to the extent applicable. In	
	the event of a conflict between these Guidelines and that of the funding agency, the	
	funding agency Regulations/Guidelines shall take precedence over these Guidelines.	
	In the event these Guidelines specify additional steps, not specified by the Guidelines	
	of the relevant funding agency, the PE shall bring to the notice of the Funding Agency	
	of those and shall apply those provisions with the concurrence of that funding Agency.	
	Notwithstanding the above, the Procuremnet Entity (PE) shall not apply Guidelines	
	of any funding agency, if the funding is loan/credit financing, where substantial	
	achievement of the objectives as specified in Clause 1.2 above cannot be achieved.	
1.4 Ethi	cs in Selection and Employment of Consultants	Refer
		Manual
		1.4
	ssociated with Procurement Process including officials of the NPC, the Treasury,	
	g Entity(PE), members of the Consultant Selection Committees, as well as Consultants	
-	of their personnel should observe the highest standards of ethics during the Procurement	
Process a	nd execution of such contracts.	
Ethics w	ould include standards of conduct and norms of behavior as sought to be defined	
	osed by relevant laws, regulations, and codes generally applicable to such persons in	
_	their general discharge of duties and in relation to their activities linked to the relevant	
	nent Process.	
1.4.1	Confidentiality	Refer
		Manual
		1.4.1
	All parties associated with Procurement Activities shall maintain strict confidentiality	
	throughout the process except to the extent as may be mandated by law.	

1.4.2	Fraud and Corruption	Refer
		Manual
		1.4.2
	The GOSL requires that officials, bidders, contractors, Consultants, and suppliers; any sub-contractors, service providers; any agents; and any of their personnel observe the highest standards of ethics during the Procurement Process and contract execution and	
	refrain from Fraud and Corruption. In case of FFP, parties associated with any step of the Procurement Processes shall adhere to the FFA's Guidelines in addition to the GOSL requirements.	
	For the purpose of this provisions, the terms set forth below as follows;	
	a) Corrupt Practice	
	"Corrupt Practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly or indirectly, anything of value to influence improperly the actions of another party;	
	b) Fraudulent Practice	
	"Fraudulent Practice" means any act or omission, including a misrepresentation, that knowingly or recklessly misleads, or attempts to mislead, a party to obtain a financial or other benefit or to avoid an obligation;	
	c) Collusive Practice	
	"Collusive Practice" means an arrangement between two or more parties designed to achieve an improper purpose, including influencing improperly the actions of another party. Improper purpose would include any attempt to influence competition and/or the price;	
	d) Coercive Practice	
	"Coercive Practice" means impairing or harming, or threatening to impair or harm, directly or indirectly, any party or the property of the party to influence improperly the actions of a party;	
	e) Obstructive Practice	
	"Obstructive Practice" means deliberately destroying, falsifying, altering, amending or concealing of evidence materials to the investigation or making false statements to investigators / auditors in order to materially impede an investigation / audit into allegation of a corrupt, fraudulent, collusive or coercive practice; and/or threatening, harassing or intimidating any party to prevent it from disclosing its knowledge of matters relevant to the investigation/audit.	

1.4.3	Conflict of Interest	Refer
		Manual
		1.4.3
	The GOSL requires that officials, firms and any other individuals involved in Procurement Process shall not have a conflict of interest. Officials shall declare that they shall remain without a conflict of interest throughout the process and deal with any perceived conflicts of interest. Should such a compromising situation arise, the official shall declare his/her interest and disassociate himself/herself from the process. The NPC requires that Consultants provide professional, objective, and impartial advice and at all times hold the PE's interest's paramount, without any consideration for future work, and that in providing advice they avoid conflicts with other assignments and their own corporate interests. Consultants shall not be hired for any assignment that would be in conflict with their prior or current obligations to other clients, or that may place them in a position of being unable to carry out the assignment in the best interests of the PE. Without limitation on the generality of the foregoing, Consultants shall not be hired under the circumstances set forth below: a) Conflict between consulting activities and procurement of Goods, Works, or Non-Consulting Services: a firm that has been engaged by the PE to provide Goods, Works, or Non-Consulting Services for a project; or, where those Consulting Services were provided by any affiliate (that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with that firm) or	
	associate, shall be disqualified from providing Consulting Services resulting from or directly related to those Goods, Works, or Non-Consulting Services; b) A firm for the preparation or implementation of a project, or any affiliate (that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with that Consulting firm), shall be disqualified from subsequently providing Goods, Works, or Non-Consulting Services resulting from or directly related to the Consulting Services for such preparation or implementation;	
	c) Conflict among consulting assignments: neither a Consultant (including its personnel and sub-consultants), nor any affiliate (that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with that Consultant), shall be hired for any assignment that, by its nature, creates a conflict of interest with another assignment of the Consultants'; and	

	d)	Relationship with PE's staff: consulting firms (including their experts and other personnel, and sub-consultants) that have a close business or family	
		relationship with a professional staff of the PE or any other party representing	
		or acting on behalf of the PE, who are directly or indirectly involved in	
		any part of: (i) the preparation of the Terms of Reference (TOR) for the assignment, (ii) the selection process for the contract, or (iii) the supervision	
		of such contract, may not be awarded a contract, unless the conflict stemming	
		from this relationship has been resolved in a manner acceptable to the PE	
		throughout the selection process and the execution of the contract.	
1.4.4	Unfair	Competitive Advantage	
	Fairness	s and transparency in the Consultant selection process require that firms or their	
	affiliate	s or Individual Consultants competing for a consulting assignment do not derive	
	a compe	etitive advantage from having provided Consulting Services related to it. To that	
	end, the	e PE shall make available to all the short-listed Consultants, together with the	
	_	for proposals, all information that would in that respect give a Consultant a tive advantage.	
	Official	s shall refrain from compromising the Code of Ethics by accepting inappropriate	
		nd hospitality at any stage of Procurement Process. Consultants shall be	
	disquali	fied from the selection process if found offering any gift or inducement which	
	may hav	we an effect of influencing a decision or impairing the objectivity of an official.	
1.5 Lav	vs Applic	eable to Procurement Actions	
		ble to Procurement Actions shall be the Laws of the Democratic Socialist	
Republic	c of Sri La	nka.	
1.6 Cor	sulting S	Services Leading to Downstream Procurement	Refer
			Manual
			1.6
	-	out the selection of a Consultant for the Consulting Services that will lead to	
	_	arement/s such as subsequent contract awards for construction activities (non-	
	-	onent), following a Consulting Services for design, engineering and costing and	
project r	nanageme	nt of construction works (consultancy component) using appropriate option.	

GOVERNANCE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIONS

The governance of Procurement Actions shall be managed by the Procuring Entities through clear and transparent lines of authority to confirm accountability, with clear definitions of the roles and responsibilities of each party.

All procurements related to consultancy services shall be carried out in accordance with Selection and Employment of Consultants Guidelines and Manuals, 2019 announced by National Procurement Commission (NPC).

2.1 Na	tional Procurement Commission (NPC)	Refer Manual 2.1
Constit	ational Procurement Commission (NPC) as established under the Chapter XIX B of the ution of Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri Lanka is the sole authority for the governance curement framework followed by the Government Institutions. Any clarifications on the ons of these Procurement Guidelines and related documents shall be sought from the NPC.	
2.1.1	Role of the NPC	
	Role of the NPC is to ensure formulation of procurement policy, Guidelines and, practices, monitoring and investigation of Procurement Actions of Procuring Entities to guarantee implementation of such policies, Guidelines and best practices by Procuring Entities and related Government Institutions, assessment of procurement capacity of Government Institutions, procurement capacity building and reporting to appropriate authorities on procurement performance of Procuring Entities and individuals.	
	les and Responsibilities of Chief Accounting Officer and Accounting Officer AO and AO)	
to cont	sibility of the entire Procurement Process from making pre-procurement arrangements ract execution shall be vested with the Secretaries of the respective Line Ministries, who med to be the Chief Accounting Officers (CAOs) of such Ministries and the Accounting (AOs) of respective Departments /Institutions.	
	is no Line Ministry for the particular Institution, the responsibility of the entire Procurement including contract execution shall be vested with the relevant Head of the Institution.	
2.3 Ro	les and Responsibilities of Procuring Entity (PE)	Refer Manual 2.3
Directo	ries to the Line Ministries, Heads of Departments /Institutions/Agencies and Project ors together with the assistance of the Procurement Specialist, Consultants and other t staff shall be responsible for the following activities listed under:	
1. Pre-l	Procurement process	
	Procurement process	

2.4 Appo	intment of Consultant Selection Committees (CSCs) and Payments	Refer
	SCs Members	Manual
		2.4
The mem	bers of the CSCs are jointly and severally responsible for entire Procurement Actions.	
	wing CSCs shall be appointed as per the respective authority limits as specified under 2.5 from time to time;	
1. Hi	gh Level Consultant Selection Committee (HLCSC)	
2. M	inistry Consultant Selection Committee (MCSC)	
3. De	epartment Consultant Selection Committee (DCSC)	
4. Pr	oject Consultant Selection Committee (PCSC)	
2.4.1	High Level Consultants Selection Committees (HLCSC)	Refer Manual 2.4.1
	The Secretary to the Treasury shall appoint HLCSCs to undertake high value consultancy assignments.	2.1.1
2.4.2	Ministry Consultants Selection Committee (MCSC)	Refer Manual 2.4.2
	The CAO shall appoint the MCSC.	
2.4.3	Department Consultants Selection Committee (DCSC)	Refer Manual 2.4.3
	The CAO shall appoint the DCSC.	
2.4.4	Project Consultants Selection Committee (PCSC)	Refer Manual 2.4.4
	The CAO shall appoint the PCSC.	
2.4.5	Payments for Members of Consultants Selection Committees (CSCs), Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Process	Refer Manual 2.4.5
	Members of the Consultant Selection Committees and alternative members shall be remunerated for participation in the Procurement Process. The members of the Consultant Selection Committees and the officers to whom speicific responsibilities are assigned under these Guidelines shall be remunerated, with emphasis to their performance. Payment of remuneration shall be based on performance of such committees and individuals and the eligible payments shall be determined by the NPC, in consultation with General Treasury.	

2.5 Authority Limits for Determination of Contract Award	Refer
	Manual
	2.5
Selection and Employment of Consultant is administered through different levels of Consultants	
Selection Committees (CSCs) with varying financial thresholds to make recommendation/	
determination of contract awards.	
Limits of authority to make recommendation/determination of contract award and thresholds shall	
be decided from time to time and shall be communicated by making amendments to the Consulting	
Services Manual or circulars issued under these Guidelines by the NPC.	
Consultants Selection Committees shall be appointed depending on the Total Cost Estimate (TCE) of the relevant procurement.	
In the event the substantially responsive lowest evaluated bid exceeds the threshold limit of the	
relevant Consultant Selection Committee, it shall be referred to the relevant appointing authority	
to take a decision.	

SELECTION PROCESS AND SELECTION METHODS OF CONSULTANCY FIRMS AND INDIVIDUAL CONSULTANTS

The selection method shall achieve the objectives of VfM, fairness, clarity, fit-for-purpose, transparency and confidentiality. Hence the appropriate method of selection is related to the nature, size, complexity, likely impact of the assignment, and the technical and financial considerations.

A consultancy firm shall be selected in obtaining the services required rather than getting the service done by one or more individuals for assignments for which:

- a. coordinated input of team of personnel with different expertise are required; and
- b. coordination, administration or collective responsibility is important.

In other cases, PE may select Individual Consultant (IC). The selection method of Individual Consultant is outlined in section 3.2 below.

3.1 Methods for the Selection of Consultancy Firm	Refer
	Manual
	3.1
The choice of the appropriate method of selection is related to the factors mentioned above. It is	
therefore necessary to carefully define the assignment, particularly the Terms of Reference (TOR)	
including objective and the scope of the services, before deciding on the selection method.	
The following selection methods shall be determined as appropriate by the PE prior to issuance of	
the request for proposals from prospective Consultants.	
a) Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS);	
b) Quality Based Selection (QBS);	
c) Fixed Budget Selection (FBS);	
d) Least Cost Selection (LCS);	
e) Consultant's Qualifications based Selection (CQS);	
f) Direct Selection-Single Source Selection (SSS); and	
g) Selection of Particular Types of Consultants	

3.1.1	Quality and Cost Based Selection (QCBS)	Refer
		Manual 3.1.1
	OCDS is a second visit of the second of the	3.1.1
	QCBS is a competitive process among shortlisted consulting firms under which the selection of the successful firm takes into account the quality of the proposal and the cost of the services. The request for proposals document shall specify the minimum score for the technical proposals. The relative weight to be given to the quality and cost depends on the nature of the assignment. Weightage for quality part of the proposal is always higher than the financial part. Among the proposals that are responsive to the requirements of the request for proposals document and are technically qualified, the proposal with the highest combined (quality and cost) score is considered the Most Advantageous Proposal.	
	Preferred method of selection of consultancy firm shall be QCBS. Other methods shall be used only under the circumstances described against such selection methods.	
	The QCBS method is appropriate when:	
	a) the scope of work can be precisely defined;	
	b) the TOR are well specified and clear; and,	
	c) PE and the Consultants can estimate with reasonable accuracy the personnel time as well as the other inputs required of the Consultants.	
3.1.2	Quality Based Selection (QBS)	Refer
		Manual
		3.1.2
	QBS is a method based on evaluating only the quality of the technical proposals and	
	the subsequent negotiation of the financial proposal and the contract award to the	
	consultancy firm who submitted the highest ranked technical proposal.	
	When QBS is used, the proposal quality is evaluated without using cost as an evaluation	
	criterion. The RFP will request firms to submit both technical and financial proposals	
	at the same time, but in separate envelops (single stage – two envelope system). The	
	financial proposal of only the highest technically qualified firm is open and evaluated.	
	The Procuring Entity and the related firm shall discuss the work plan, the TOR, and	
	financial proposal, etc. of the contract. After successful completion of technical and	
	financial negotiations with the highest ranked firm, the contract will be awarded. The	
	rest of financial proposals will be returned unopened to the unsuccessful firms. QBS is	
	appropriate for the following types of assignments:	
	 a) complex or highly specialized assignments for which it is difficult to define precise TOR and the input required from the firm, and for which the Procuring Entity expects the firm to demonstrate innovation in its Proposals; 	
	b) assignments that have a high downstream impact; and	
	c) assignments that can be carried out in substantially different ways, so that Proposals will not be comparable.	

3.1.3	Fixed Budget- based Selection (FBS)	Refer
		Manual
		3.1.3
	Like QCBS, FBS is a competitive process among shortlisted consulting firms under which the selection of the successful firm takes into account the quality of the Proposal and the cost of the services. In the request for proposals document, the cost of services is specified as a fixed budget that shall not be exceeded.	
	FBS is appropriate when:	
	a) the type of Consultancy Service required is simple and TOR can be precisely defined;	
	b) the time and personnel inputs can be accurately assessed to ensure the budget is reasonably estimated and set;	
	c) the budget is sufficient for the firm to perform the assignment.	
	d) the budget is fixed and cannot be exceeded.	
	Evaluation of all technical proposals shall be carried out first. The firms securing less than the minimum marks shall be rejected, and the financial proposals of the rest shall be opened in public.	
	Proposals of which evaluated financial proposal exceed the indicated fixed budget shall be rejected.	
	The technical proposal with the highest technical score that meets the fixed budget requirement, be selected and invited to finalize the contract.	
3.1.4	Least Cost Selection (LCS)	Refer Manual 3.1.4
	Similar to QCBS, LCS is a competitive process among shortlisted consulting firms under which the selection of the successful firm takes into account the quality of the Proposal and the cost of the services.	
	LCS is generally appropriate for selecting Consultants for smaller value assignments, of a standard or routine nature where well–established practices and standards exist.	
	The RFP shall define the "minimum" qualifying mark for the "quality" and request the firms to submit at the same time technical and financial proposals in separate envelopes. Technical proposals will be opened first and evaluated. Those securing less than the minimum qualifying mark specified in the RFP will be rejected, and the financial proposals of the rest will be opened in public. The firm with the lowest evaluated cost shall then be selected and invited to finalize the contract.	

	Consultant's Qualification-based Selection (CQS)	Refer
		Manual
	COS is appropriate for	3.1.5
	CQS is appropriate for;	
	a) smaller value assignments; or	
	b) an emergency situation; and	
	c) preparation and evaluation of full-fledged competitive proposals is not justified.	
	CQS is appropriate for higher value assignments only when:	
	d) satisfies the condition given under 'c' above; and	
	e) highly specialized expertise is required for the assignment: and	
	f) few Consultants are qualified.	
	The PE shall Request Expressions of Interest (REOI), by attaching the TOR to the REOI. Only a selected consultancy firms shall be requested to provide information about their relevant experience and qualifications. Out of the long list received in response to the REOI, a shortlist of minimum of three firms shall be prepared and the PE will select the firm with the best qualifications and relevant experience and invite it to submit its combined technical and financial proposals for negotiations.	
	Should the negotiations failed the PE shall obtain a combined proposal from the next ranked firm until an agreement is reached.	
	Advertisement of REOI is not mandatory.	
3.1.6	Direct Selection - Single Source Selection (SSS)	Refer
		Manual 3.1.6
	Generally, Single Source Selection of consultancy firms does not provide the benefits of competition in regard to quality and cost, lacks transparency in selection, and could encourage unacceptable practices. Therefore, single source selection shall only be used in exceptional cases.	Manual 3.1.6
	of competition in regard to quality and cost, lacks transparency in selection, and could encourage unacceptable practices. Therefore, single source selection shall only be used	

SSS may be appropriate under the following circumstances: an existing contract for Consulting Services, may be extended for additional a) Consulting Services of a similar nature, if it is properly justified; no advantage may be obtained by competition; and the prices are reasonable. Extended services shall not be more than 25% of the existing contract; or for Consulting Services which are natural continuation of previous assignment b) carried out by the same firm within the last 12 months, where it was selected on competitive basis for the first assignment and where continuity of technical services is unavoidable and if performance has been satisfactory in the previous assignment(s). Extended continuation services shall not be more than 50% of the previous assignment; c) in cases of an emergency situation where a rapid selection is essential; d) for smaller value assignments; when only one firm is qualified, or has experience of exceptional worth for the e) assignment; Specific recommendation shall be obtained from the relevant CPC. For Foreign Funded Projects this selection method shall be used only with the prior approval of the relevant funding agency; In all instances of direct selection, the Procuring Entity shall ensure fairness and equity, and shall have in place procedures to ensure that: the prices are reasonable and consistent with the market rates for services of a similar nature; and ii) the required Consulting Services are not split into smaller- size procurements to avoid competitive processes. iii) to obtain necessary prior approval for the SSS justification with all other relevant details In Writing from the CAO, concerned on recommendation by a CSC. 3.1.7 **Selection of Particular Type of Consultants** Refer Manual 3.1.7 Under special circumstances as described below Consultants may be selected.

3.1.7.1	Consultancy Works by State Universities and State Research & Development	
	(R&D) Centers	
	With the objective of promoting active institute/industry links/partnerships, research based consultancy assignments directed towards improvements of efficiency and productivity of the local industries and helping to realize the country's socio-economic, environmental, human development policies, may be directly assigned to state universities and state R&D centers. In such situations, PE shall follow the process using direct selection method. The fees billed for permanent staff by the university or R&D center in no case should exceed twice the basic salary of such staff. When such Consulting Services are given, the university or R&D center shall follow the requirements given in the Consultant's Manual. PE shall ensure that the relevant permanent staff of the university or R&D center is under the control and direction of the university authorities, have necessary legal and administrative clearances to engage in consultancy assignments, and ensure that the assignments given under this section are not subcontracted, assigned or otherwise transferred to any person or entity outside	
	the university. The contract shall be entered with the proper legal entity of the university or R&D center and in no case with an individual or group of individual. For Foreign Funded Projects this selection method shall be used only with the concurrence with the Foreign Funding Agency.	
3.1.7.2	Consultancy Assignment to Government Institutes	
	No consultancy assignments shall be awarded to Government Institutions through direct contracting except in the instances related to 3.1.7.1.	
3.1.8	Preparation of Terms of Reference (TOR)	Refer Manual 3.1.8
	a) The PE shall be responsible for preparing the TOR for the assignment. TOR shall be prepared by a person(s) or a consultancy firms specialized in the area of the assignment. The scope of the services described in the TOR shall be compatible with the available budget. TOR shall define clearly the objectives, specific tasks required to implement the assignment, goals, and scope of the assignment and provide background information (including a list of existing relevant studies and basic data), and provides details on the required qualifications of the key experts; and lists the expected deliverables to facilitate the Consultants' preparation of their proposals. If transfer of knowledge or training is an objective, it should be specifically outlined along with details of number of staff to be trained, and so forth, to enable Consultants to estimate the required resources.	

	However, TOR should not be too detailed and inflexible, so that competing Consultants may propose their own methodology and staffing. Consultancy firms shall be encouraged to comment on the TOR in their proposals. The PE's and Consultants' respective responsibilities should be clearly defined in the TOR.	
	b) TOR should provide a level playing field for all prospective Consultants. It should meet the essential requirements of the PE.	
	c) It should normally be based on respective national standards or equivalent international standards where applicable.	
	This Section shall not be used to over-write provisions in Instructions to Consultants and Data Sheet.	
3.1.9	Preparation of Long List	Refer Manual 3.1.9
	The long list of Consultants may be prepared following one or any combination of the following methods:	
	i. Inviting EOI by advertisement;	
	ii. By including names of Consultants who have satisfactorily completed similar assignments to the PE previously;	
	iii. By collecting names from the other PEs who had obtained the services of Consultants for similar assignments; and	
	iv. By collecting names from Foreign Funding Agencies.	
	However, for large and complex assignments the PE shall advertise in local newspapers, PEs web site and NPC website or e-GP portal or as directed by NPC. When the participation of international consultancy firms is expected, the invitation shall be extended to international media and international web portals. When e-GP System is established and rolled out, all such advertisements should be published in e-GP Portal in addition to other mediums.	
3.1.10	Preparation of Shortlist	Refer Manual 3.1.10
	Shortlisting of Consultants shall ensure, only the best qualified consultancy organizations submit proposals. In preparation of short list first consideration shall be given to those organizations expressing interest that possesses the relevant qualifications.	

3.2 Sele	ection of Individual Consultants	
3.2.1	Selection of Individual Consultants	Refer Manual 3.2.1
	Individual Consultants are normally employed on assignments (lump sum or time based) for which:	
	a) the experience and qualifications of the individual are the paramount requirement; and	
	b) Teams of personnel, and coordination, administration, or collective responsibility between them are not required; or	
	c) no additional outside (home office) professional support is required.	
3.2.2	Terms of Reference (TOR) for the Selection of Individual Consultants	Refer Manual 3.2.2
	PE should first prepare a TOR for the assignment, including the scope of work, estimated budget etc. The TOR shall be reviewed by the relevant CSC.	
3.2.3	Advertising	Refer Manual 3.2.3
	Advertisement for seeking Expressions of Interest (EOI) or CV is encouraged, particularly when the PE does not have knowledge of experienced and qualified national expert individuals or of their availability, or the services are complex, or there are potential benefits from wide advertising, or if it is exceeding a period of three (3) months and value is exceeding one million.	
	Submission of qualifications shall be advertised in national news papers, PEs web site, NPC web site and e-GP System. For international consultancy assignments, it is recommended to advertise in national newspapers, PEs web site, NPC web site and e-GP System in addition to international advertisements. Local Consultants, subject to guildeline 5.8 below, may apply for consultancy assignment advertised internationally. It may not, however, be required in all cases and should not take place for small value contracts. All invitations for EOIs should specify selection criteria that are solely based on experience and qualifications. When firms are invited to propose individual Consultants, EOIs shall clarify that only the experience and qualifications of individuals shall be used in the selection process, and that their corporate experience shall not be taken into account, and specify whether the contract would be signed with the firm or the proposed individuals.	

3.2.4	Selection on Competitive Basis	Refer Manual 3.2.4
	Individual Consultants are selected on the basis of their qualifications for the assignment. Generally, they shall be selected through comparison of qualifications and capabilities of at least three or more candidates among those who have expressed interest in the assignment in response to an advertisement or have been approached directly by the PE. Capability is judged on the basis of academic background and experience, as appropriate.	
3.2.5	Single Source Selection (SSS)	Refer Manual 3.2.5
	Individual Consultants may be selected on a single-source basis with due justification in exceptional cases such as:	
	a) tasks that are a continuation of previous work that the Consultant has carried out and for which the Consultant was selected competitively;	
	b) assignments with a total expected duration of less than 6 (six) months;	
	c) urgent situations; and	
	d) when the individual is the only Consultant qualified for the assignment.	
	SSS justification with the details of individual Consultant shall be approved by the CAO;	
	e) If the assignment period is more than 6 (six) months, provided funds are available the NPC approval should be obtained for sufficiently detailed justification, including the rationale for single source selection instead of a competitive selection process, and the basis for recommending a particular individual Consultant in all such cases, except for contracts below a threshold.	
3.2.6	Terms of Appointment	Refer Manual 3.2.6
	A formal contract agreement shall be signed with the individual Consultant. This contract shall include employment conditions covering remuneration, direct expenses, leave (if any), insurance (if any), per- diems (if any), duration and description of services. For very small assignments of routine nature a letter of appointment may be used but shall address the above-mentioned terms.	

PROCUREMENT PLANNING

Efficient and realistic planning of the entire Procurement Process is vital to ensure timely completion of the procurement cycle.

Preliminary selection steps such as preparation of draft TOR, cost estimates, preparation of draft REOI, draft RFP etc. may be commenced by the PE even without a firm commitment of funds for the assignments included in the procurement plan to reduce future delays.

4.1 Pro	ocurement Planning	Refer
		Manual
		4.1
Every F	E shall be responsible to plan their individual procurements, other than emergency	
procure	ments, in advance and shall prepare following plans.	
1.	Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	
2.	Procurement Plan (PP)	
3.	Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	
4.1.1	Master Procurement Plan (MPP)	Refer
		Manual
		4.1.1
	Every PE should prepare a Master Procurement Plan for a period of three years in medium	
	term budgetary perspective and should be compiled at the Ministry level.	
	a) Individual procurements envisaged for a period of three years shall be listed in the Master Procurement Plan. (MPP)	
	b) MPP shall be reviewed annually, at the commencement of respective financial year, and shall be approved by the Secretary to the Line Ministry.	
	c) MPP shall be disclosed as per the Regulations made under the Right to Information Act No 12 of 2016.	

4.1.2	Procurement Plan (PP)	Refer
		Manual
		4.1.2
	a) PE shall prepare a Procurement Plan (PP) in accordance with Master Procurement Plan (MPP) and previously approved Action Plan, depicting procurement that	
	shall be carried out during the year.	
	Shari de carried dat daring the year.	
	b) PP shall be more specific and list the Procurement Activities of the current year	
	in accordance with the budgetary provisions and approved by the Secretary to the Line Ministry. PE shall send a true copy of the approved PP to NPC.	
	c) After preparation of the procurement plan the PE shall publish the General Procurement Notice (GPN) indicating the details of the procurements planned	
	for the current year. GPN shall be published in the websites of the PE, relevant	
	line ministry and NPC.	
	d) PP shall be disclosed as per the Regulations made under the Right to Information	
	Act No 12 of 2016.	
	PP shall be updated as and when necessary considering actual performance. MPP and Action Plan also may be amended accordingly, if required.	
	PE shall send an updated PP to NPC within 30 calendar days of the update.	
4.1.3	Procurement Time Schedule (PTS)	Refer
		Manual
	a) Procurement Time Schedule (PTS) is a schedule describing each Procurement Action	4.1.3
	in chronological order, from commencement to completion of the entire Procurement	
	Process up to the award of contract.	
	b) PTS shall be prepared by the PE in two stages;	
	Stage 1 - all activities from the commencement up to the preparation of draft Request	
	for Proposal (RFP) document;	
	Stage 2- all activities after preparation of the draft RFP document consequent to	
	obtaining the required budgetary provisions.	

- c) Regular updates of PTS Stage 1 shall be done.
- d) It is an obligation of the respective CSC, to consider the PTS and approve it at the first meeting. The PE shall forward the draft PTS for the consultancy assignment, together with any connected downstream procurements to the CSC. Once the PTS is agreed upon, the Chairpersons of the CSCs shall monitor the progress in consultation with the PE. Where a major delay occurs, it is the responsibility of the Chairperson of the CSC to effect remedial measures.

4.2 Publication of Procurement Plan and Time Frame for Procurement Actions

Refer Manual 4.2

The Procurement Plan is a management tool and needs the approval of the CAO. The final Procurement Plan will be published without estimated costs in advance on the NPC's website as well as on the website of the PE. The Procurement Plan will guide the PE in the selection of Consultancy Services.

Average time frame for different stages of procurement is specified in the Manual.

4.3 Total Cost Estimate (TCE) of the Procurement

Refer Manual 4.3

TCE is an aggregation of elemental costs of a procurement to be conducted including VAT which will be shown separately. The elemental costs mean itemized costs of the pre-procurement, procurement and post-procurement costs.

Well-developed cost estimates are essential to ensure realistic budgetary allocations. The cost estimates for the proposed assignment shall be prepared by the PE based on assessment of the resources needed to carry out the activities: experts' time, logistical support, and physical inputs (for example; transport, office space, equipment, laboratory equipment etc.). For the complex procurements, PEs may take external expert assistance. Costs shall be firstly divided into two main categories:

- a) remuneration; and
- b) other expenses including reimbursable costs,

and further divided into foreign and local costs where appropriate.

4.3.1	Approving of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	
	TCE shall be approved by the appropriate authority.	
4.3.2	Update of Total Cost Estimate (TCE)	
	Wherever it is necessary to update the TCE, the updated TCE shall be approved by the appropriate authority prior to request for Proposals.	
	The Approving Authority should refrain from revising the TCE during the Procurement Process after the issuance of request for proposals.	
4.4 Exp	pression of Interest	Refer Manual 4.4
4.4.1	Publication of Request for Expression of Interest (REOI)	Refer Manual 4.4.1
	A Request for Expression of Interest (REOI) shall be advertised by giving applicants at least fourteen (14) calendar days for national competition and twenty-one (21) calendar days for international competition to submit their interest to provide Consultancy Services. The late submission of a response to REOI shall not be a cause for its rejection unless the PE has already prepared a short list, based on the received EOIs. An advertisement is to be published in the PE's website, web portal of NPC, e-GP Portal (if applicable) and local newspapers in case of national procurement and also established international e-procurement portals or donor website in case of international procurement for inviting of eligible Consultants to show their interest in offering Consultancy Services in a specific field of expertise.	
4.4.2	Content of the REOI	Refer Manual 4.4.2
	 a) the name and address of PE; b) an appropriate description of the assignment providing scope of the intellectual and professional services required; c) deadline and place of the submission of the EOI; and d) evaluation criteria required to be followed. 	

4.4.3	Criteria for Short-listing of Consultants Firms	Refer
		Manual
		4.4.3
	Whenever short-listing is deemed necessary, the PE shall predetermine the criteria	
	for short-listing. Except for single source, there will normally be five (5) to eight (8)	
	Consultants in the shortlist, but there is no upper limit for number of candidates to be	
	short-listed. However, if less than five candidates apply (after sufficient advertising),	
	their proposals may be considered on merit.	
	The PE while engaged in short-listing of Consultants will take into consideration the following factors, namely:	
	Tollowing factors, numery.	
	i. qualification;	
	ii. general experience;	
	iii. similar experience; and	
	iv. any other factor that a PE may deem relevant.	
	Well defined criteria should be used for short-listing. All applicants shall be informed	
	whether or not they have been short-listed.	
4.4.4	Criteria for Short-listing of Individual Consultants	
	Where applications from Individual Consultants are required, the CV required (Request	
	for CVs) must be to a certain standard and format. Qualifications can be divided	
	between academic and professional. Remuneration depends on the level of qualification	
	achieved. Good TORs do not call for absolutes but allow for some degree of flexibility;	
	Experience is given greater weight over academic qualification. Similar experience	
	is given greater weight than general experience—the more relevant to the service the	
	more desirable. Consultants may be asked to provide a sample of their previous work	
	if necessary.	
		1

CHAPTER 5 REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL (RFP) DOCUMENTS

Refer Manual 5.2
Refer Manual 5.3
Refer Manual 5.4

5.5 Letter of Invitation (LOI)	Refer Manual
	5.5
The LOI should state the intention of the PE to obtain the services of the Consultant for a given assignment and inform the shortlisted Consultants that they are invited to submit a proposal for the execution of the assignment. At a minimum it shall provide the basic information regarding:	
a) The name of the PE and source of funding;	
b) The names of the shortlisted firms;	
c) A brief description of the objectives and scope of the assignment;	
d) The method of selection; and	
e) The date, time and address for submission of proposals.	
The LOI should also instruct the Consultants to indicate whether they intend to submit their proposal alone or in association with other shortlisted parties/individuals and request the PE's permission to such association.	
5.6 Instructions to Consultants (ITC)	Refer
	Manual
Instructions to Consultants shall contain all relevant information for the Consultant to prepare and submit a proposal. ITC shall not be changed in SRFPs.	5.6
5.7 Eligibility of Consultants	Refer Manual 5.7
a) Eligibility requirements for Consultants shall be included in the RFP documents.	
b) Consultants should be considered as ineligible under the following situations, among others:	
 i. If the Consultant is blacklisted by GOSL (a list of blacklisted Consultants will be updated periodically, and will be published in the NPC web portal) or by FFA in case of Foreign Funded Projects; 	
ii. Any Consultant who has been engaged by the PE to prepare the TOR for the proposed Consultancy Assignment.	
5.8 Equal Treatment for Foreign and National Consultants	
When foreign Consultants are involved, the contract conditions shall have equal application to both national and foreign Consultants other than allowing preference for participation of national Consultants, if specified in the RFP.	

Only if foreign currency payments are envisaged under the contract, both the foreign and national consultancy firms shall be eligible to quote and be paid in foreign currency to the extent applicable. To be eligible for foreign currency payment, Consultants are required to submit justification to that effect. Import of specialized equipment spending foreign currency by the Consultant and payment of remuneration for expatriates etc., would for instance be deemed to be valid justifications. **5.9 Proposal Validity Period** Refer Manual 5.9 a) Consultants shall be required to submit proposals valid for a period specified in the RFP documents. b) The CSC shall ensure that the period so specified is sufficient to enable the CSC to complete the evaluation of proposals, obtain all requisite approvals, and in the case of a Foreign Funded Project to obtain the concurrence of the Foreign Funding Agency for the recommendation of award in order that the contract can be awarded within the proposal validity period. c) The minimum proposal validity periods are given in the Consultancy Services Manual. 5.10 Time for Submission of Proposals The CSC shall allow sufficient time for the Consultants to prepare their proposals. The CSC shall follow the minimum time periods given in the Consultancy Services Manual. **5.11 Clarity of RFP Documents** All prospective Consultants shall be provided with the same information and shall be a) assured of equal opportunities to obtain additional information. PE shall provide reasonable opportunity of access to the project sites for visits by prospective Consultants, if requested. In the case of all HLCSC, MCSC, DCSC and PCSC assignments, a pre-proposal conference shall be arranged where by potential Consultants have the opportunity of seeking clarifications from the PE. Minutes of such pre-proposal conference shall be circulated to all prospective Consultants. Minimum period between issuing minutes of pre-proposal conference and proposal closing date shall be ten (10) working days for national competitive bidding and in the case of international competitive bidding twenty (20) calendar days.

confe	ere are drastic changes in specifications/requirements/scope of work in the pre-proposal erence minutes against specified in the RFP, PE shall consider increasing the above period opriately. If deemed necessary, the PE may extend the deadline for proposal submissioning appropriately.	
5.12	Clarifications and Amendments to RFP	Refer Manual 5.12
a)	Any prospective Consultants requiring any clarification of the RFP documents should notify to the PE InWriting, in sufficient time before the date of proposal submission closing. The PE, in consultation with CSC, shall provide these clarifications InWriting or by fax or email, electronic message in case of e-GP, and copy them to all Consultancy firms on the shortlist without indicating the name of the Consultant who request the clarification.	
b)	With the sufficient time prior to the date of closing of proposal submission, PE may at its own initiative or in response to a clarification requested by prospective Consultants, modify RFP documents by issuance of addenda. However, minimum period between issuing addenda and proposal closing date shall be ten (10) working days for national competitive bidding and in the case of international competitive bidding twenty (20) calendar days.	
c)	If deemed necessary, the PE may extend the deadline for proposal submission closing giving due consideration to the PTS.	
5.13	Association between Consultants	Refer Manual 5.13
agree of th meth seven	cultants may associate with each other in the form of a joint venture or of a sub-consultancy ement to complement their respective areas of expertise, strengthen the technical responsiveness eir proposals and make available bigger pools of experts, provide better approaches and odologies, and, in some cases, offer lower prices. joint venture and/or partners are jointly and rally liable on the execution of a contract. an association may be for the long term (independent of any particular assignment) or for a	
If the of the representation	PE employs an association in the form of a joint venture, the association shall appoint one e firms to represent the association as a lead partner; All members of the joint venture, or their esentative with a power of attorney, shall sign the contract. All members of the joint venture be jointly and severally liable for the entire assignment.	
	hall not require Consultants to form associations with any specific firm or group of firms or de any particular individual in their proposals, but may encourage association with qualified	

Once the shortlist is finalized, and the Requests for Proposals (RFPs) are issued, any association in the form of joint venture or sub-consultancy among short-listed consultancy firms shall not be permissible. However, under special circumstances it may permissible only with the approval of the PE. A shortlisted consultancy firm shall submit only one proposal in the same selection process, either individually as a proponent or as a partner in a joint venture. No consultancy firm can be a subconsultant while submitting a proposal individually or as partner in a joint venture in the same selection process. A consultancy firm, if acting in the capacity of sub-consultant in any proposal, may participate in more than one proposal, but only in that capacity. 5.14 Value Added Tax The Consultants shall be instructed to indicate VAT separately and VAT shall not be considered for evaluation of proposals. 5.15 Evaluation Criteria and Qualification Requirements Refer Manual 5.15 a) The RFP documents shall clearly specify the evaluation criteria and sub-criteria that will be applied for the selection of the Consultant. b) Qualification criteria and post qualification criteria shall also be clearly stated in the RFP documents. c) The disclosed criteria shall not be modified or additional criteria shall not be introduced during the proposal evaluation. Evaluation shall be done only in accordance with the disclosed criteria. 5.16 Standard Forms of Contract 5.16.1 **Draft Contract to be Issued** a) The draft contract shall be issued with the RFP document. b) The draft contract document shall clearly define: i. the scope of the assignment (Description of Services-DOS); ii. the rights and obligations of the PE; iii. the rights and obligations of the Consultant: iv. if the PE intending to assign members of its own professional staff to the assignment in different capacities, PE shall give the details governing such staff, known as counterpart staff, as well as facilities that shall be provided by the PE, such as housing, office space, secretarial support, utilities, materials, and vehicles.

- v. The contract shall also indicate the measures that Consultant can take if some of the items cannot be provided or have to be withdrawn during the assignment, and the compensation the Consultant will receive in such a case.
- vi. That the Consultant should state the local cost only in Sri Lankan Rupees.
- vii. That the failure on the part of the parties to perform their obligations under the contract will not be considered a default, if such failure is the result of an event of Force Majeure, as defined in the contract.
- viii. The policy on corrupt and fraudulent practices: Consultants, subconsultants, service providers and any agents (whether declared or not); and any of their personnel, observe the highest standard of ethics during the Procurement Process, selection and contract execution, and refrain from Fraud and Corruption.
- ix. In addition to the general conditions of contract, any special conditions particular to the specific Goods or Works or Services to be procured and the location and modality of the project shall be included.

5.17 Conditions of Contract

- a) The General Conditions of Contract (GCC) are generally used with all types of contracts and shall be issued with the RFP document. Special Conditions of Contract (SCC) may also be included in the RFP document with necessary modifications, depending upon the need.
- b) Provisions indicated in the SCC will supersede the corresponding provisions in the GCC.

5.18 Price Adjustment

To adjust the remuneration for foreign and/or local Consultants due to inflation and other costs, a price adjustment provision may be included in the contract if its duration is expected to exceed 18 months. Contracts of shorter duration (less than 18 months), may also include similar provisions for price adjustments when local or foreign inflation is expected to be high.

Prices are adjusted by using applicable official price indices. Where such indices are not available, they may be derived from appropriate documented sources. The formula, the applicable price indices, and the base date for application shall be clearly defined in the contract.

5.19 Payment Provisions

Payment provisions, including amounts to be paid, schedule of payments, and payment procedures, shall be included. Payments may be milestone based.

5.20 Adv	ance Payment	Refer Manual 5.20
An advanc	be payment can be made, when required provisions are included in the RFP document.	
5.20.1	Performance Security	Refer Manual 5.20.1
	If PE wishes to obtain a performance security from a Consultant/consultancy firm under special circumstances, it is allowed to do so up to the percentage as specified in the RFP. This percentage is normally 5% to 10% of the total Contract Price.	
5.21 Disp	oute Resolution	
there	disputes arising out of contract agreements shall be first subjected to adjudication and eafter governed in accordance with the provisions of the Arbitration Act No. 11 of 1995 ri Lanka, as amended.	
by w	ference must be made in the contract documents, that settlement of disputes would be vay of arbitration and an appropriate arbitration clause should be included in the contract ach effect.	
	Foreign Funded Projects dispute resolution provisions recommended by the Foreign ding Agency shall be complied with.	
Cha Law	ject to the provisions of the Arbitration Act, the Rules of Arbitration of the International mber of Commerce (ICC) or the United Nations Commission on International Trade (UNCITRAL) or any other set of acceptable rules such as Sri Lanka International stration Centre (Guarantee) Limited are recommended for usage.	
of a	venue of arbitration shall be in Sri Lanka, for GOSL funded projects. The venue rbitration for Foreign Funded Projects would be determined in accordance with the irements of the Foreign Funding Agency.	
5.22 The	Law of Contract	
The law g	overning the Contract shall be the Laws of the Democratic Socialist Republic of Sri	
5.23 Terr	ns of Reference (TOR)	
Refer clau	se 3.1.8 of this Guidelines;	
5.24 Tech	nnical and Financial Proposals Standard Forms	Refer Manual 5.24
	d Consultants shall not modify technical and financial proposal standard forms given dard RFPs, unless it is essential and that with the concurrence of relevant CAO or AO ropriate.	

PROPOSAL PROCESS

6.1 I	ssuance of RFP Documents	Refer Manual 6.1
a)	The RFP should be made available during business hours, by mail or in person to shortlisted Consultant, or through the e-GP platform on the payment of the prescribed fees if applicable.	
b)	The RFP shall be issued only to the shortlisted Consultants and it is not transferable.	
6.2 F	Proposal Preparation Period	Refer Manual 6.2
a)	The proposal preparation period shall commence from the date on which the RFP documents are made available to short-listed Consultants.	
b)	The period shall end with the deadline for proposal submission.	
c)	The proposal preparation period shall be reasonably adequate to prepare the proposals.	
6.3 S	Submission/Receipt of Proposals	Refer Manual 6.3
a)	The proposal shall be received only at one location by;	
	i. mail under registered post; or	
	ii. personal delivery against receipt, to the officer authorized by the PE to receive such proposals at the specified location; or	
	iii. e-GP portal of Sri Lanka (if instruction given in the RFP)	
b)	Except for CQS and SSS, all proposals must be submitted only under sealed cover and the RFP documents should stipulate a condition to this effect.	
c)	Proposal shall be submitted in one original and a copy as stipulated in the "Instruction to Consultants" sealed separately and clearly marked as "Original" or "Copy". All these envelopes shall together be enclosed in one envelope and delivered as per above. In case of e-GP system, only one digital copy will be submitted in provided forms and formats by the e-GP System.	
6.4 F	Rejection of Late Proposals	Refer Manual 6.4
accep	osals shall be closed at the time specified in the RFP documents. Late proposals shall not be sted and shall be returned unopened in the case of QCBS, QBS, LCS, and FBS. In case of system, the system shall be geared to automatically reject the proposal if the specified time bired.	

6.5 Pt	ublic Opening of Proposals	Refer Manual 6.5 & 6.6
a)	Responsibility of opening of the proposals is vested with the CSC and should be opened soon after the time of closing of proposal submission deadline. The CSC may delegate such authority to a "Proposal Opening Committee (POC)" which shall comprise of a minimum of two members.	
b)	Except for CQS and SSS, the proposals shall be opened in the presence of the Consultants who choose to attend. Only the outer envelope shall be opened and the names and addresses of the Consultants who have submitted the proposals shall be announced. The presence or absence of the financial proposal of each Consultant shall also be disclosed. In case of e-GP system, online opening of proposal may be carried out.	
c)	Only the financial proposals marked as "original" shall be opened at the financial proposal opening. The "copy" shall not be opened. In case of e-GP system, a unique copy of the proposal will be remained in the system and accessible to the authorized committee members for opening and evaluation purposes.	
6.6 P	rocedure of Opening Financial Proposals	Refer Manual 6.5 & 6.6
a)	The PE shall inform the firms whose technical proposal were evaluated as qualified, of the date, time and place where the financial proposals will be opened publicly. The opening date shall be determined allowing sufficient time for Consultants to make arrangements to attend the opening of the financial proposal and in no case, should be not less than three (3) working days' notice if all the firms are national, and eight (8) working days in all other cases. The name of the firm, the technical quality score (for QCBS), and proposal prices shall be announced, and recorded when financial proposals are opened.	
b)	The proceedings of the financial proposal opening shall be recorded in the prescribed format and should be signed by all members of the proposal opening committee.	
c)	The original financial proposal together with the minutes pertaining to proposal opening shall be handed over to the chairperson of the CSC.	

EVALUATION OF PROPOSALS

7.1 General	Refer Manual
	7.1
All the proposals should be evaluated strictly on the basis of evaluation criteria, and terms and	
conditions incorporated in the RFP document. No new conditions and criteria should be brought	
in while evaluating the proposals. Aim should be to ensure that no firm gets undue advantage over others.	
7.2 Confidentiality	
After closing of submission of proposals, information relating to substance, clarification and evaluation of proposals and recommendations concerning selection shall not be communicated to firms nor to any other person, (unless they are formally involved in the process.), until after the date on which the formal announcement is due.	
7.3 Services of Outside Expert/s for Evaluation of Proposals	
a) If the evaluation of proposals is entrusted to outside expert/s, it shall be made under the supervision and guidance of CSC;	
b) Outside experts shall not form part of CSC;	
c) The CSC shall prepare its formal report along with the outside expert's report.	
7.4 Time Frame for Proposal Evaluation	Refer Manual 7.4 and 7.5
Proposal evaluation shall be undertaken expeditiously, leaving ample time to seek all the requisite formal approvals. Hence, proposals shall be evaluated within the period specified in the PTS.	7.1 4.14
7.5 Extension of Proposal Validity	Refer Manual
CSC must endeavor to make the award in keeping with the PTS and within the bid validity period.	7.4 and 7.5
 a) In exceptional situations where it is not possible to make the award before the expiry of proposal validity period, prior to such expiration, the validity period may be extended; 	

If a bidder does not agree to extend the validity of the proposal, such proposal shall be excluded from further consideration. Any extension of validity so requested, may result the firm substituting the original staff proposed during the negotiations. However, it shall be in accordance with terms and conditions laid down in the RFP. 7.6 Original Proposal to be Evaluated Only the Proposals marked "original" shall be evaluated by the CSC. In case of e-GP system, there will be only one digital copy in the e-GP System submitted in accordance with the forms and formats as provisioned in the system. 7.7 Purpose and Stages of Proposal Evaluation The evaluation of the Proposals shall be carried out in two stages; first the quality and then the cost. The evaluation shall be carried out in full conformity with the provisions of the RFP. The purpose of proposal evaluation will vary with the selection method used. Precise evaluation procedures vary between the different methodologies, but all consist of three stages: i. a preliminary screening to eliminate proposals which do not comply with the basic requirements of the RFP and the firm does not meet mandatory eligibility requirements; ii. a detailed technical evaluation to determine whether proposals are responsive to the RFP document, to assess the relative quality of the proposals, using a merit point scoring system specified in the RFP and to determine which proposals should proceed to the financial opening and evaluation; and iii. a financial evaluation to examine the prices of the proposal/s and determine which is the successful proposal that should be recommended for award of contract.

7.8 Eva	luation of Technical Proposal	Refer
		Manual
		7.8
7.8.1	CSC to agree on the Rating System in Advance	
	All members of the CSC should familiarize themselves with the RFP (in particular the TOR), the evaluation criteria and sub-criteria specified in the data sheet, and the selection procedure. The CSC should meet before the deadline for submission of the proposals to confirm that there is a common understanding of the evaluation method, the evaluation criteria and sub-criteria, and a joint definition of the rating system. It is important not to wait until after the technical proposals are opened to define the rating system, since these definitions could be biased by the knowledge of the contents of the proposals.	
7.8.2	Evaluation to be Carried out by CSC	
	Evaluation shall be carried out by each CSC member other than the chairperson, individually. The CSC first reviews each proposal to confirm that it is substantially responsive, that is, that there are no important/material omissions or deviations from the stated objectives, TOR, or other key requirements of the RFP. Individual's results shall be recorded on pre-formulate worksheets or web-forms templates. By applying the criteria and sub-criteria specified in the RFP, CSC shall establish the absolute, not the relative, quality of the proposals.	
	After each member has independently completed the evaluation, the CSC should meet to review, and if necessary discuss the merits of, individual evaluations and scores. Some evaluators tend to be generous while others will be rigid in their judgment and ratings. Such disparity does not matter, provided each evaluator is consistent and differences in scores are not too large. The chairperson of the CSC shall review the large differences and discuss with the members at a joint meeting, since they often are caused by improper or inaccurate use of the rating system. As a result of these discussions, a member may revise some of his or her ratings and scores if necessary; these changes should be recorded. For each proposal, the CSC should then calculate the average of the scores allocated by all members under each criterion, establish the technical ranking of the proposals, and identify the best. The evaluation report must include the joint as well as the individual evaluations.	
7.8.3	Strengths and Weaknesses of Each Proposal to be Recorded	
	During the evaluation the committee also should comment on the strengths and weaknesses of all proposals that have passed the minimum technical qualifying mark indicated in the RFP. This will help identify any issues in the recommended proposal that need to be clarified during negotiations.	

7.8.4	Evaluation Based on Disclosed Criteria	
	The evaluation shall be based on the evaluation criteria defined in the RFP. The CSC shall evaluate each technical proposal, taking into account several criteria including: i. the Consultant's relevant experience for the assignment;	
	ii. the quality of the methodology proposed;	
	iii. the qualifications and experience of the key staff proposed;	
	iv. Other matters, such as the extent of participation of nationals among key staff in situations where the shortlist comprises of national and international firms and transfer of knowledge for assignments where training is needed.	
7.9 Techr	nical Proposal Evaluation Form	
given to ea or deviatio proposed b is a confidence	epared by CSC in the format as published by NPC recording and explaining the scores ach proposal. For each proposal, the report also should indicate technical weaknesses are from the terms set out in the RFP and comment on their acceptability or alternative by the Consultants, and comment on their acceptability. The technical evaluation report cential document and its contents shall not be disclosed, except to the extent as required provisions of the Right to Information Act No. 12 of 2016.	
7.10 Clar	ifications from Consultants During Evaluation	
Consultant	e evaluation, CSC may request clarification or additional information from the st through the PE. However, CSC may not seek clarifications or additional information consultants that could change the substance of the proposal.	
7.11 Ope	ning of Financial Proposals	
proposals on responsation at the end proposals of set for open	paring the technical evaluation report, the PE shall notify the Consultants whose did not meet the minimum technical score specified in the RFP or were found to be asive, indicating that the Consultants' financial proposals will be returned unopened of the selection process. The PE simultaneously notifies Consultants whose technical were above the minimum technical score and informs them of the date, time, and place ening the financial envelopes. The opening date should be defined to allow sufficient consultants to make arrangements to attend the opening.	

The Proposal Opening Committee (POC) verifies that the financial proposals have remained sealed and then opens them. The financial proposals of technically qualified firms will be opened publicly in the presence of firms or their representatives who choose to attend. The name of the Consultant, the technical points, and the proposed prices shall be read aloud and recorded as each financial proposal is opened.

When e-GP submission of proposals is used, this information shall be posted online. No modification to financial proposals is permitted. The PE prepares the minutes of the public opening, which should be attached to the Financial Evaluation Report.

If Consultants were initially requested to submit financial proposals under QBS, the PE shall notify the Consultant with the highest-ranked technical proposal and indicates the date, time, and place set for negotiating the financial proposal and the contract.

7.12 Evaluation of Financial Proposals

Refer Manual 7.12

The CSC should first establish that the financial proposals are completed (i.e. whether they have priced all the items of the corresponding technical proposal. If not the CSC shall cost them and add those costs to the initial price if Time Based type contract is used).

Then the proposals are checked for arithmetical errors. Arithmetical errors should be corrected, and the corresponding adjustments made to the offered prices to obtain the final evaluated prices. In case of e-GP system, a separate checking of arithmetic errors need not be effected if the price of each item is automatically calculated by the system using the rates given by the Consultants against the requirements provided by PE.

Activities and items described in the technical proposals, but not priced, shall be assumed to be included in the prices of other activities oritems.

If an activity or line item is quantified differently in the financial proposal than in the technical proposal and the Time-Based Form of Contract has been included in the RFP, the CSC shall correct the quantification indicated in the financial proposal so as to make it consistent with what is indicated in the technical proposal, apply the relevant unit price included in the financial proposal to the corrected quantity, and correct the total proposal cost. In case of e-GP system, the system should be geared for automatic calculation.

If the Lump-Sum Form of Contract has been included in the RFP, no corrections are applied to the financial proposal in this respect.

-	urpose of comparing proposals, evaluated prices shall be converted to a single currency exchange rate, date and source indicated in the RFP where appropriate.	
detected d	S is adopted, adjustments made by the CSC to correct omissions or in-consistencies during the evaluation of the financial proposal could raise the evaluated price of a proposal available budget indicated in the RFP. This could lead to the rejection of the proposal.	
7.13 Neg	gotiation with the Highest Ranked Consultant	Refer Manual 7.13
the select the detaile financial t	etive of negotiations is to arrive at a mutually satisfactory contract between the PE and ted Consultants. The parties will discuss the technical proposal submitted, agree on ted scope of work of the consultant assignment and all related arrangements, negotiate terms, and discuss and finalize contract conditions. A good contract should protect the of both parties in a balanced way.	
7.13.1	Negotiation in case of QCBS, FBS and LCS	
	After completion of the evaluation, the CSC shall negotiate a contract with the first ranked consultancy firm. Negotiations shall include discussions of the TOR, the methodology, work plan, deliverables, staff schedule, PE's counterpart facilities, and special conditions of the contract. These discussions shall not substantially alter the original TOR attached to the invitation. The final TOR and the agreed methodology shall be incorporated in "Description of Services" (DOS), which shall form part of the contract.	
	The selected consultancy firm should not be allowed to substitute key staff, unless both parties agree that undue delay in the selection process makes such substitution unavoidable or that such changes are critical to meet the objectives of the assignment. If this is not the case and if it is established that key staff were offered in the Proposal without consulting their availability, (as far as possible to avoid such situations Consultants can have an written agreement with the key staff on their availability for the particular assignment before submitting their names) the consultancy firm may be disqualified and the process continued with the next ranked consultancy firm. The key staff proposed for substitution shall have qualifications equal to or better than the key staff initially proposed.	
	During the negotiations on financial proposal, unit rates for staff- months and reimbursable shall not be negotiated, since these have already been a factor of selection in the cost of the proposal, unless there are exceptional reasons.	

If the negotiations fail to result in an acceptable contract, the CSC shall terminate the negotiations and invite the next ranked consultancy firm for negotiations. The Consultant shall be informed of the reasons for termination of the negotiations. Once negotiations are commenced with the next ranked consultancy firm, the CSC shall not reopen the earlier negotiations. After negotiations are successfully completed with the next firm, the CSC shall make their final determination of the contract award. After this determination, the PE shall promptly notify other consultancy firms on the short list that they were unsuccessful. 7.13.2 Negotiation in Case of OBS, COS and SSS After completion of the evaluation the CSC shall negotiate a contract with the first ranked Consultant. Negotiations shall include discussions of the TOR, the methodology, work plan, deliverables, staff schedule, PE's counterpart facilities, and special conditions of the contract. These discussions shall not substantially alter the original TOR attached to the invitation. The final TOR and the agreed methodology shall be incorporated in "Description of Services," which shall form part of the contract. The selected Consultant should not be allowed to substitute key staff, unless both parties agree that undue delay in the selection process makes such substitution unavoidable or that such changes are critical to meet the objectives of the assignment. If this is not the case and if it is established that key staff were offered in the Proposal without consulting their availability (as far as possible to avoid such situations Consultants can have an agreement with the key staff on their availability for the particular assignment before submitting their names), the Consultant may be disqualified, and the process continued with the next ranked Consultant. The key staff proposed for substitution shall have qualifications equal to or better than the key staff initially proposed. The negotiations on financial proposal shall include the remuneration rates for staff (breakdown of fees such as salary, social costs, overheads, fee that is profit, and any premium or allowance paid), proposed unit rates and quantities for reimbursable. If the negotiations fail to result in an acceptable contract, the CSC shall terminate the negotiations and invite the next ranked Consultant for negotiations. The PE shall inform the Consultant of the reasons for termination of the negotiations. Once negotiations are commenced with the next ranked Consultant, the CPC shall not reopen the earlier negotiations. After negotiations are successfully completed, the CSC shall make their final determination of the contract award. After this determination, the PE shall promptly notify other firms on the short list that they were unsuccessful. The CSC shall keep a record of matters agreed with the Consultant during negotiations and the PE shall execute a Memorandum of Understanding with the Consultant

relating to the agreed negotiated terms and conditions, which subsequently shall be

included as contract terms.

1	Refer Manual 7.14
mmediately after the evaluation is completed the CSC should prepare a combined evaluation eport and recommendation/determination of contract award in the prescribed format and submit to the relevant authority for the approval.	
.15 Rejection of all Proposals Received	
f all proposals are found to be nonresponsive, the CSC may be justified in rejecting all of them. The grounds for rejecting all proposals are as follows:	
i. The proposals present major deficiencies in complying with the RFP.	
ii. All proposals fail to achieve the minimum qualifying mark (technical score) indicated in the RFP.	
iii. The proposal prices are substantially higher than the PE's estimated budget.	
n the first case, there may be technical reasons for the deficiencies. Most frequently, the PE nd Consultants disagree on which contractual party should be responsible for executing specific ssignment activities or on the exact content and feasibility of specific deadlines affecting the mplementation schedule of the PE's project. In other instances, Consultants may find the estimated taff-months and the distribution of risks are unacceptable.	
In the third case, the PE may not know the ongoing remuneration levels of Consultants for the type of service being considered, Consultants may misinterpret the TOR, or the PE's plans may be not ambitious for the available budget. In this case, before rejecting all proposals, the PE, should envestigate the feasibility of increasing the budget or scaling down the scope of services to meet the original budget.	
n all cases, good TOR, accurate budget, and review of the RFP can reduce the risks of nonresponsive roposals.	
f all proposals rejected, the new process may start and include revising the TOR, RFP (including ne short list) and the budget. Calling for new proposals creates obvious delays and should remain ne last resort.	

AWARD OF CONTRACT

8.1 Rec	ommendation/Determination of Contract Award	
In case of	of any dispute in respect of recommendation/determination of contract award, the majority of the CSC shall prevail. However, any CSC member may submit a dissenting report.	
After the	e CSC has completed the evaluation:	
a)	in the case of HLCSC, the HLCSC may make a recommendation of contract award to the Cabinet of Ministers; and	
b)	in all other cases convey the determination of contract award to the:	
	i. CAO, in the case of MCSC; or	
	ii. AO, Head of Department in the case of DCSC; or	
	iii. Project Director in the case of PCSC.	
8.2 Coi	nmunication to all Consultants of the Intention to Award Contract	Refer Manual 8.2
Intentio	etary to the Line Ministry (CAO), of the selection of the successful Consultant and the a to Award the contract to such Consultant and the specific reasons as to why the particular ant's proposal has not been successful.	
After th	e award is made, the Consultants are entitled to obtain copies of Proposal Evaluation (Technical, Financial and Combined), including any other reports and opinions which the	
Howeve	d in arriving at their respective recommendations. r, the Secretary to the Line Ministry has the right to reserve any confidential details, which egally misused subject to compliance with Right to Information Act No. 12 of 2016.	
CAO sh	all inform all Consultants with regard to Appeal Boards for their objections/appeals if any.	
8.3 Del	riefing	
The Pur	poses of debriefing are to:	
a)	Inform the aggrieved Consultant who requests for a debriefing during the standstill period, the reasons for not being successful, pointing out the specific shortcomings in his/her proposal without disclosing contents of other proposals, with the overall objective of educating the Consultant to submit more responsive and competitive proposals infuture.	

- b) Minimize the level of complaints and to demonstrate clearly the principle and practice of probity and transparency.
- c) After the notification of contract award, a Consultant who wishes to ascertain the grounds on which its proposal was not selected should address its request to the PE.

In the notification of Intention to Contract Award, the PE shall specify that any Consultant who wishes to ascertain the grounds on which its proposal was not selected, should request an explanation from the PE. The PE shall promptly provide the explanation as to why such proposal was not selected, In Writing and/or in a debriefing meeting, at the option of the Consultant. The requesting Consultant shall bear all the costs of attending such a debriefing. In this discussion, only the Consultant's proposal can be discussed and not the proposals of competitors.

8.4 Standstill Period

Refer Manual 8.4

To give Consultants time to examine notification of intention to award the contract and to assess whether it is appropriate to submit a complain /appeal, a standstill period shall apply. However, standstill period does not apply under single proposal situation in a competitive method or under the direct selection methodor emergency situation announced by GOSL.

8.5 Appeals against Contract Awards Recommended by the HLCSC/MCSC/DCSC or PCSC

Refer Manual 8.5

- a) Any unsuccessful Consultant who is not satisfied with the contract award decision, within ten (10) working days time of being informed of the Intention to Contract Award, may make its representation against the recommendation of the HLCSC/MCSC/DCSC or PCSC to award the contract to the successful Consultant, to the respective Appeal Board upon payment of the requisite fees as instructed by relevant authority.
- b) The Appeal Board shall immediately after the filing of the request serve a notice thereof to the Chief Accounting Officer of a Procuring Entity.
- Request for review and suspension of procurement proceedings shall be by a written notification by the Appeal Board.
- d) Upon being served with a notice of a request for review, the Procuring Entity shall within five working days or such lesser period as may be stated by the Appeal Board in a particular case, submit to the Appeal Board a written memorandum of response to the request for review together with all relevant documents.

Appeal Boards shall, after due consideration of the contents of appeals, make their recommendations with reasons to the appropriate authority with copy to NPC.

8.5.1	Appointment of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs), Reporting and Operational Responsibilities and Payments for PAB Members	
	The key objectives of establishing the procurement appeal boards are to provide an independent review of the CSC decision upon the grievances submitted by the Consultants. Appealing procedure would allow contested issues to be reviewed and corrective measures to be put in place.	
	PAB procedure would allow speedy decision and lower cost for all parties while at the same time providing fairness, transparency and value for money.	
	The following PABs shall be appointed as per the respective authority limits as specified under GL 2.5 from time to time;	
	PABs for High Level Procurements related to HLCSC	
	MPABs for Ministry Level Procurements related to MCSC	
	DPAB/PPABs for Department/Project level Procurements related to DCSC/PCSC	
	PABs are responsible to examine and hear each and every appeal submitted by aggrieved parties and make its recommendation to the relevant authority with a copy to CAO/AO/HD/PD. In the case of High and Ministry level procurements, the PAB recommendations shall be copied to NPC.	
8.5.2	PABs for High Level Procurements related to HLCSC	
	There shall be either one or more PAB/s to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of HLCSC.	
	PAB members for High Level CSCs are appointed by H.E. the President on the nominations submitted by the NPC.	
	The appointing authority should take appropriate steps to appoint required number of PABs to handle the procurement appeals.	
8.5.3	MPABs for Ministry level Procurements related to MCSC	
	There shall be either one or more MPAB/s to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of MCSC.	
	The Members for MPABs are appointed by the Secretary to the Treasury.	
	The appointing authority should take appropriate steps to appoint required number of MPABs to handle the procurement appeals.	

8.5.4	DPAB/PPAB for Department/Project level Procurements related to DCSC/PCSC	
	There shall be a DPAB/PPAB to handle appeals related to procurements in the relevant threshold level of DCSC/PCSC.	
	The Members for DPAB/PPAB are appointed by the CAO on the recommendation of AO/HD/PD.	
8.5.5	Payments for Members of Procurement Appeal Boards (PABs) and Staff Officers and Other Officers Assisting in the Procurement Appeals Process	
	Members and alternate members of PABs shall be remunerated for participation in the procurement appeal process. The members of the PAB and the official whose specific responsibilities are assigned shall be remunerated.	
	Payment of remunerations shall be based on performance of such committees and individuals and the eligible payments shall be determined by the NPC, in consultation with the General Treasury.	
8.6 Co	ontract Award Procedure	
Follow	ring the acceptance of a proposal submitted by a Consultant	
a)	A formal letter of acceptance shall be issued forthwith to the bidder by the Procuring Entity.	
b)	Prior to issuance of letter of contract award, the PE should ensure that budgetary provision is available to meet the cost of contract.	
c)	Letter of contract award shall be issued within the validity period of the proposal, and no sooner the final determination of contract award is completed.	
d)	Arrangements shall be made to sign the contract as early as possible prior to the commencement of the assignment.	
8.7 Fo	ormal Contract	
	al contract agreement is required to be entered into with the successful Consultant. Contract stration depends on the types of Contract signed.	
8.8 Pu	ablication of Contract Award	Refer Manual 8.8
	E should publish promptly the details of the award in PE's web site, NPC Web portal, and ortal if applicable.	

CONTRACT ADMINISTRATION

9.1 C	Contract Administration	Refer Manual 9.1
	E shall be responsible for ensuring adequate supervision and assessment of deliverables and of services by the Consultants.	
9.2 V	ariation of Contract/Change Requests	Refer Manual 9.2
a)	The conditions of contract will normally empower the PE to vary the scope, quality or quantity of Services to be executed at any time during the progress of the contract and provided the basis for such variations/change requests and valuation of such variations/ change requests within approved limits and is justifiable.	
b)	The CAO/AO shall appoint the 'Change Control Committee (CCC)' to examine the variations/ change requests that are justifiable in all aspects.	
c)	Any contract variation/change request shall obtain prior approval by the relevant authority.	
d)	However, before committing any expenditure due to variation/ change request proposed, relevant Total Cost Estimate (TCE) shall be duly revised, necessary financial provision shall be available and necessary prior approvals from the appropriate authority obtained.	
9.3 E	xtension of Time	
due to	sions of time may be granted by an appropriate authority, in exceptional circumstances or force majeure situations, when the Consultant establishes to the satisfaction of the PE, that is are attributable to circumstances beyond the control of the Consultant.	
9.4 D	ebarring or Blacklisting of Defaulting Consultants	Refer Manual 9.4
-	defaulted Consultant shall be considered for blacklisting or banning to participate in the ltancy assignments for a period specified by the appropriate authority.	
regula	and the CAO/AO shall maintain a database of defaulting Consultants which shall be updated arly. After obtaining the information from particular PE the relevant CAO/AO shall inform the details of the Consultant to be included in the list maintained by the NPC.	
The P data b	Es should not award any contracts to any Consultant, as long as their names remain in the base.	
9.5 S	upervising the Consultants	
a)	To enable the Consultant to begin work promptly, the PE shall make arrangements for supervision of the assignment, in particular by:	
	i. Appointing the counterpart staff where required;	

- ii. Providing office space, transport and other supplies and services where applicable as per the client inputs in the RFP;
- iii. Informing all concerned institutional parties;
- iv. Effecting the advance payment if specified in the RFP;
- v. Providing, authorization, data and background material if needed;
- vi. Acceptance of the successfully completed deliverables as stated in the contract.
- b) The performance of the Consultants will also be monitored by the management of the PE with the assistance of concerned or interested parties. For this purpose, the PE will prepare a status report of all sub projects and submit them to management and, if and where appropriate, to donors on a fortnightly basis or within such times as may be mutually agreed. Information related to a Consultant's performance will be added to the database of Consultants. Any issues of attention (such as weaknesses in the department's support or a less than satisfactory output by a Consultant or insufficient support by a counterpart) will be discussed and appropriate changes to the systems and structures will be agreed and implemented.

9.6 Types of Contracts

Refer Manual 9.6

PEs spend substantial funds on various type of Consulting Services and therefore need to consider how best to structure the contracts for those services.

Three main considerations determine what type of contract to adopt in a Consultancy assignment as follows;

- a) the nature of the assignment,
- b) the distribution of risks and rewards between the Procuring Entity and the Consultant,
- c) the circumstances of the PE and of the Consultant. The level of capacity in contract management and Consultancy Services supervision that the PE will be able to provide may also be a factor in the choice.

The following contract types based on payment conditions may be used as appropriate;

- Lump-sum contract
- · Time-based contract
- Retainer and/or (success) fee contract
- Percentage contract
- Indefinite-delivery contract (IDC)

Each type is described briefly in the Manual, as well as the criteria that are suggested for their adoption and correct application.